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MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good afternoon, everyone.  The Panel continues to sit in EB-2017-0182, 0194, and 0364.  We have a lot to accomplish this afternoon, so I would like to proceed, if we can.  You are going to continue -- Mr. Warren, you are looking at me.  Do you have a preliminary matter you need to deal with?

MR. WARREN:  Preliminary matter to deal with if you wouldn't mind.

MS. LONG:  Sure.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, Ms. Croll advised me a few moments ago that there is an update to her evidence based on information that arrived just yesterday while she was testifying, and if she could address that it would bring everyone up-to-speed on EA matters.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Ms. Croll.

MS. CROLL:  I would just like to update our schedule as found in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, Attachment 1.  And this pertains to an item in the schedule for the EA with respect to the terms of reference.  Sorry, took you by surprise.  Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14.  This would be the EA schedule, Attachment 1.  That's it.

So if you look at the last line under "terms of reference".  Oh, no, you have it correctly.  So "terms of reference", so the last line, "formal review period and Minister's decision".  So yesterday we became aware that MECP has allowed a three-week extension to allow three First Nations communities some extra time to review our terms of reference.  The effect of this extension will move the Minister's likely decision date to December 14th, 2018.  So that's a two-week change in the expected decision date.  This does not have an effect on the rest of the schedule.  However, I did want to report that that date has now changed as of yesterday.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Cass, you are going to continue with your cross?

MR. MURPHY:  We just have one very quick item.  I wanted to follow up on the conversation yesterday about the fully executable EPC contract -- we didn't see that -- that was filed yesterday.  I just wanted to follow up to see when it's going to be filed.

MS. LONG:  I thought it had been filed.  I thought I saw it.

MR. MURPHY:  If we have an oversight I am happy to take it offline.  I don't want to delay.

MS. LONG:  Can you confirm it's been filed?  I thought I'd --


MR. MURRAY:  I believe it's been filed.  I had something come to my desk today.

MR. MURPHY:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  We'll confirm at the break, but I do believe it's filed, so that issue has been dealt with.

So we are going to continue, Mr. Cass, with your cross-examination, and then we are going to move to parties that need to ask questions today on the EA, and we will have parties ask those questions first, and then we will revert back to other people that have other questions for this panel.  So Mr. Cass.
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Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass (Continued):

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, my first question is really just an effort to be sure that I understand one of the interrogatory responses.  For that purpose, if I could ask you to look at tab 15 of the compendium we had yesterday, Volume 2 of the NextBridge compendium.  And that's tab 15.

In particular, I am looking at -- I hope you are with me.  It's a response to an interrogatory from VECC.  Second page.  In particular, I am looking at the response to Part D of the question.  This indicates that there is a deferral account request in the event that Hydro One is unable to execute a partnership agreement and effectively maintains 100 percent ownership of the project.

I just want to be sure that I understand what this is saying.  Is this saying that the relief that Hydro One is asking for from the Board, in particular a deferral account, is explicitly contemplating a circumstance where Hydro One does not actually make any agreement at all for Indigenous equity participation?

MR. SPENCER:  Sorry, I am just trying to familiarize myself with the specifics of the response.  Certainly our intention is to ultimately be selected by the Board to build the project and enter into a partnership agreement prior to the transfer of the assets into the new entity.  Our intention has always been to have an equity partnership with Indigenous communities on this project.  I think this is a procedural response to a procedural question around regulatory treatment of the costs in the event of.  However, we are not in any way pursuing a project where we would not enter into a partnership with Indigenous partners on equity and ownership of this project.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, I am sorry I am missing the procedural part of it.  I didn't mean to take long on this.  My understanding of this answer is that the specific reason for this deferral account request is in the event that Hydro One maintains 100 percent ownership of the project.  Is that right or is that wrong?

MR. SPENCER:  That's as the response is worded.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

And so that brings me back, actually, to what Hydro One said in its original application for leave to construct the Lake Superior Link project.  I think you will all agree with me, panel, that in the original application Hydro One stated four key assumptions that it said are critical to the project.

MR. SPENCER:  Is there a reference, sorry?

MR. CASS:  Yeah, if you need the reference it's Exhibit B-7-1, pages 6/7, but I would have thought that you'd know these.  These are the four -- do you recall, Mr. Spencer, that part of the application you said there were four critical assumptions?

MS. CROLL:  It was also one of our responses, I believe --


MR. CASS:  Yes, I will be coming to that as well, yes.

MS. CROLL:  Yeah, I think it's NextBridge 12.

MR. SPENCER:  As I am sure you can appreciate, there are many volumes of information here --


MR. CASS:  Uh-huh.  I understand.

MR. SPENCER:  -- and just maybe a little more specificity would be helpful, thank you.

MR. CASS:  I was just trying to find out if you recall that Hydro One had stated four key assumptions that are critical --


MS. CROLL:  Yes, we do.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  And Hydro One said these are critical both with respect to schedule and overall costs; right?

MS. GOULAIS:  The interrogatory response is Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 12.

MR. CASS:  Well, perhaps you could look at Exhibit B-7-1, pages 6 and 7, if you don't recall what was in the original application.

MR. SPENCER:  We are going to turn up the reference, thank you.

MS. GOULAIS:  The response -- so...

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, are you not able to just put to them the question that you have with respect to these four?

MR. CASS:  I was trying, I am sorry.

MS. LONG:  That would help.

MR. SPENCER:  We are going to turn up the evidence just to make sure we are understanding the four points that you are referencing, thank you.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  I am sorry, Madam Chair, I thought these were well known, but...

There we have it.  If you can go to the top of the page.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, so they are the same as these, um-hmm.

MR. CASS:  And Hydro One said that these four key assumptions are critical both with respect to schedule and overall costs; right?

MS. CROLL:  In our application, yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Are you changing that?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. CASS:  I didn't think so, because I know there is an interrogatory response.  And Hydro One also said that if these assumptions do not materialize Hydro One will not be able to complete the project as proposed in the application; right?

MS. CROLL:  I think -- well, I think the response is as our interrogatory.  Is there a specific question, or --


MR. CASS:  That was the question.  Is that the case that if these assumptions do not materialize Hydro One will not be able to complete the project as proposed in the application?

MS. CROLL:  So I believe our response, which is Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 12, actually in detail explains the criticality at this point of those four assumptions.  So it's specifically --


MR. CASS:  I am going to be coming to that later, as I assured you.

MS. CROLL:  So if there is a change, it is documented in here.

MR. CASS:  So the fourth of the assumptions is the one that relates to this question about making an arrangement with a First Nation.

So if we can scroll to that.  I am still at Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1.

In contrast to what we heard about that deferral account request, this appears to be saying that the leave-to-construct application is actually conditional upon Hydro One finalizing agreements with directly impacted Indigenous communities to be established with a short period of time in the order of 45 days from the Board decision.

And that continues to be part of Hydro One's application, right, that the application is conditional on what is stated there?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the response as it states is the assumption 4, which is an agreement with impacted Indigenous communities, is specifically related to the equity participation agreement, and that still remains critical to us wanting to move forward with this project.  That's the answer we have given, yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And this in fact indicates that it's a condition of the application.  So that remains the case as well.  Hydro One has not changed that.

MS. GOULAIS:  The response is it remains a critical assumption for us to be able to complete our project.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  But I am looking at what was stated in the application.  It's explicitly stated that this is conditional, and I am asking you is there anywhere that Hydro One has changed that?

MS. GOULAIS:  So as per our response to the same question that was asked in the interrogatory, the assumption remains critical, to undertake to work with the communities we are considering working with from a commercial partnership perspective.

MR. CASS: Okay, I will move on.  Hydro One's project, if approved, would cross the reserves of Pays Plat and Michipicoten, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  And you have made Michipicoten aware of the project and the requisite land requirements, have you?

MS. GOULAIS:  Michipicoten has been made aware of the project, yes.

MR. CASS:  And where the project -- have you made them aware of the need to cross the reserve?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And what's the status of your negotiation with them?

MS. GOULAIS:  We are currently discussing the project with the community.  We have an interim archaeology agreement with them.  They are undertaking some of the archaeology work in the areas of their interest.

We are currently negotiating a capacity funding agreement with them in relation to the project.  We have met with their consultants as well as their chief, and have a path forward.

MR. CASS:  You have a path forward?

MS. GOULAIS:  On how we are going to continue working together, which is continuing to negotiate the capacity funding agreement and understanding how we can work together on this project.

MR. CASS:  And you also indicated that the proposed line would run through the Pays Plat reserve, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  So you have also spoken to them about the need to cross their reserve, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. COOPER:  What's the status of Hydro One's negotiations with them?

MS. GOULAIS:  We've had preliminary negotiations with Pays Plat as well with regards to this project.

MR. CASS:  So preliminary discussions is the status?

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Is Hydro One aware of any other lands owned by Indigenous communities in respect of which they would need negotiations that are not reserve lands?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I may leave -- allow my colleague --


MR. FAIR:  Yes, I can speak to that.  We do.  There are patented properties that are owned by individual First Nations in corporate -- corporate holding.

MR. CASS:  And what are those in particular?  How many and which First Nations?

MR. FAIR:  Michipicoten owns two patented properties that Hydro One would have to cross, as well as Red Rock First Nation.

MR. CASS:  How many properties is that?

MR. FAIR:  I believe it to be two.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, can you please tell me what, in its estimate of O&M costs for this project, Hydro One has allowed for reserve crossings?

MR. FAIR:  We have allowed approximately $200,000.

MR. CASS:  So on an annual basis within the O&M cost estimate, there is $200,000 allowed for reserve crossings, just to be sure I have that correct.

MR. FAIR:  Correct.  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, I think it's clear, but correct me if I am wrong, that the MOECC, as it was at the time, has indicated to Hydro One that it needs to conduct an individual environmental assessment for the proposed project, or seek one of these other two remedies, which would be a declaration order or an exempting regulation.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  We are okay on that so far?  Yes.  And I think we are fairly clear that of those options, Hydro One's proposal now is based on seeking the declaration order.  But, to put it in my words, as an alternative, it's also proceeding with work on an individual environmental assessment.  Is that a fair summary?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can I turn you to tab 21 of the compendium, please?  This is the evidence from the Ministry that was filed in connection with the motion earlier this year.

In particular, I would ask you to look at the bottom of page 2 of the evidence, the very bottom.  It indicates there that as of the date of this evidence, Hydro One had not actually made the request for a declaration order -- are you with me?  Sorry, I am not sure if you are with me.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, yes, I am.

MR. CASS:  That was correct as of the date?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Has Hydro One done so since this evidence?

MS. CROLL:  We have not, because we are not able to make a declaration order request until the NextBridge individual EA has legal standing, which it does not because it is not yet approved.

MR. CASS:  So you can't even make the request until the contingency that you have described is fulfilled?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you. And then looking over to page 3 of the same document at tab 21, just a little below the middle of the page under issue 2 G, the Ministry indicates that as a preliminary point, they note that they are not offering any opinion whether intellectual property issues might prevent Hydro One from making use of the environmental assessment work.

Has Hydro One had any discussions with this Ministry about these intellectual property issues?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we have.

MR. CASS:  And what's been the nature of those discussions?

MS. CROLL:   So recently we requested access to some of NextBridge's documents that are not currently available online from MECP, and they did indicate to us -- this was on September 27th, because they're part of the public file in this project, that we could access that material.

So it remains our understanding, as per a legal opinion, that publicly available information is available to us, and this response would suggest that MECP agrees with that as well.

MR. CASS:  Sorry, you referred to a legal opinion.  What were you referring to there?

MS. CROLL:  I was referring to discussion with Roz Cooper, so our own opinion from our third party environmental lawyer regarding the use of publicly available information from environmental assessment work.  Those opinions are outlined in our evidence.

MR. CASS:  You have actually provided the opinions of your lawyer in the evidence?

 MS. COOPER:  I am just going to interrupt.  The opinion its has not been provided.  The conclusions drawn from the opinion are included in the information that has been provided.

MR. CASS:  So I take it then that there's been a waiver of privilege associated with this opinion, if the conclusions have been provided?

MS. COOPER:  No, the view has been provided in the -- and I don't know which particular document references it with respect to the ability to rely on the information.

The reasons for that are not outlined in the response to the interrogatory.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I am just at a bit of a loss as to how they can pick and choose what part of a legal opinion is going to be provided.  They have indicated that they put some of it into the evidence, but apparently there's a claim of privilege in respect to the rest of it.

MS. COOPER:  Madam Chair, I don't believe the -- and we will have to turn up the specific evidence, but I don't believe it refers to a legal opinion.  It indicates that the view is that the information may be relied upon.  I don't think there's reference specifically to legal opinion, who provided it, what it said, what the conclusions or what the reasons were.

MR. CASS:  All right, but in any event, I am not conceding that point in any way, Madam Chair, but I do just want to move on.

MS. LONG:  I don't think that's a material point right now.  I think we know what the evidence is, what they are basing their belief on --


MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  -- I don't suspect that you are going to make an argument trying to seek, to take a look at that legal opinion, so --


MR. CASS:  Not right now.  I just want to move on, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  -- at this point.

MR. CASS:  Yeah.  But in any event, Hydro One certainly was sufficiently aware of the intellectual property issues in relation to what they are proposing to do that they sought a legal opinion on it, correct?

MS. CROLL:  I think we should review our response, which is in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, and this is the opinion of Hydro One with respect to the use of NextBridge's EA work.  I would refer to point I, as well as --


MR. CASS:  Ms. Croll, could I perhaps ask you to direct yourself to the question I just asked, and then I am going to move on.  Hydro One was sufficiently aware of the intellectual property issues associated with what it's proposing to do that it sought a legal opinion on this; correct?

MS. CROLL:  Our understanding is that publicly available information --


MR. CASS:  I am not asking you for the legal opinion.

MS. CROLL:  I am not a lawyer --


MR. CASS:  I'm just asking you to confirm --


MS. CROLL:  -- and I can't comment on the intellectual property matter.  I can only comment on our understanding of being able to use the work that's publicly available.

MR. CASS:  I will move on, Madam Chair, thank you.

I'd like to talk to you -- you have confirmed that Hydro One is looking at two different processes to deal with the EA issues, the first being the declaration order and the alternative being the individual environmental assessment.  I just want to go through a few items with you in relation to those.

First, on the declaration order, that would require a review and consultation process; right?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  It would be posted on the environmental registry for comment; correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, it would.

MR. CASS:  And depending on the circumstances, further public and Indigenous consultation could be conducted before a decision is made for a declaration order; correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And then Cabinet must actually approve the Minister's decision to issue such an order; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And the declaration order itself can impose conditions; right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And those conditions can be as much as an entirely new process; right?

MS. CROLL:  I am not certain of that.

MR. CASS:  You are not certain of that?

MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. CASS:  Well, we were just at tab 21 of the compendium.  I think you may still have that there.  This is the evidence of the Ministry.  Page 4 of 9.  Third paragraph -- well, there's a partial paragraph and then two paragraphs following on page 4, last sentence:

"Conditions can vary from simple conditions to an entirely new process."

Right?

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

Now, just a few questions on the individual EA for now.  My understanding, and correct me if I am wrong, but I got this from reading the transcript of the technical conference, but Hydro One accepts what the Ministry says that the typical timing for an EA would be three to five years, but Hydro One thinks that that does not apply in this situation; is that a fair summary?

MS. CROLL:  Could you repeat the question?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Hydro One accepts the Ministry's view that the typical timing for an EA would be three to five years, but Hydro One thinks that does not apply in this particular situation?

MS. CROLL:  So we would accept that the typical timing of an individual EA that has had no work completed previously would be three to five years.

MR. CASS:  Yes, okay, thank you.  And I think there was some discussion about this previously, perhaps at the technical conference, but the Bruce to Milton environmental assessment took something like two years and four months?

MS. CROLL:  I would have to refer to my previous testimony.  So subject to check.

MR. CASS:  Okay, and that was a class environmental assessment, was it?

MS. CROLL:  No, it was not.  It was an individual environmental assessment, and that was from the start of a project where no previous work had been completed.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, one reason you say that the typical timing does not apply is because of the extent of the work done by NextBridge; is that -- have I got that right?

MS. CROLL:  It's the extent of the work completed by NextBridge, the extent of the consultation, the familiarity of stakeholders with the project.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  But despite your intent to rely on NextBridge's work, your plan for access presumably would be very different from NextBridge's plan?  Would that not be correct?

MS. CROLL:  In certain areas we would be using different access routes; that's correct.

MR. CASS:  Do you have an access plan?

MS. CROLL:  I would have to take that as an undertaking.  I am not sure it's finalized.  I am not sure of the access plan status.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, could you please do that?  Could you provide whatever there is at this point in time in respect of an access plan?

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J2 --


MS. LONG:  Excuse me, we are really trying not to have undertakings, so is there anybody that can speak to it on the panel?  And I guess I need to know from you --


MS. CROLL:  My answer would be we will have an access plan once the studies are complete, we understand the impacts of certain routes, and obviously choose access which has the least impact.  A lot of work is being done by helicopter.  So I would say as per any project, as we continue through the EA process, we will have identified final access areas.  So that wouldn't be available yet.  I would say we would have that.  So we have portions of it, I would expect, but it would not be complete yet.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if you wish, we can give you a verbal undertaking and get you an answer tomorrow if that would help.

MS. LONG:  Well, I am trying to understand what Mr. Cass wants here.  You actually want the access plan?  The witness has admitted that the access route is different than the NextBridge access route, so I am trying to understand --


MR. CASS:  Yeah, well, it was a -- I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I didn't --


MS. LONG:  -- I am trying to understand --


MR. CASS:  It was of interest to me to understand for myself the differences, but I can move on.  I don't think that much turns on it.  I can move on.

MS. CROLL:  Certainly for the route differences, for example through the park and approaches, obviously we would use different access roads because the route is different.  It's possible we could be using some of the same in areas of the route that are shared but, again, that would be finalized subject to all the environmental studies being done.

MR. CASS:  So this is an unknown at this point in time.

MS. CROLL:  It's an ongoing process.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And when would you expect it to be done?

MS. CROLL:  I would expect once the final EA document is complete we would have a final understanding of access points for the work.

MR. CASS:  And that is when?

MS. CROLL:  January 31st, 2019 is our expected completion date for either a draft declaration order document or a draft individual EA.

MR. CASS:  I am sorry, now you just lost me there, because I thought you were on both tracks, and you said "or".

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Is it both?

MS. CROLL:  It is for either.  I believe the submission date is the same, January 31st, 2019, as per our schedule.

MR. CASS:  But your intent would be to do both with that timing?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, both an individual EA and a declaration order?

MR. CASS:  Correct.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, that is the intent.  Both processes are being carried out in parallel, which is, again, our explanation for some of the additional cost.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  My fault.  I just misunderstood the word "or".  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Do you have what you need there, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I will move on.

MS. LONG:  I want to be fair, but I also don't want to build up a whole bunch of undertakings.

MR. CASS:  Yes, understood.  I do understand, Madam Chair, thank you.  It was not my intent actually to ask for undertakings.

So just to confirm a bit of the timing, and I think these should be non-controversial.  Hydro One submitted draft terms of reference for the environmental assessment.  I hope you don't mind if I say "the Ministry", because the name has changed, to the Ministry on June 11th --


MS. CROLL:  I understand it's Environment, Conservation, and Parks.

MR. CASS:  Yes, to the Ministry on June 11th?  I think that's --


MS. CROLL:  I just want to find our schedule.

So, yes, the draft terms of reference submitted June 11th, correct.

MR. CASS:  And there were some comments, which -- and I am going to come to a little of that.  But after comments, revised draft terms of reference were submitted on August 3rd?

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  And then the final submission of the terms of reference was August 31?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  And my understanding was that the minister's decision was expected November 30th, but you've indicated that will probably be mid-December now?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  The Ministry advised us that they would like an additional two weeks as a result of granting three First Nation communities additional time to review the final terms of reference.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And these steps that we just described, these are steps in what's really the first part of the formal EA process, right, having the terms of reference approved?

MS. CROLL:  Under normal circumstances, in an individual EA where no work had been done, they would be.  However, concurrent to this, we are conducting our studies and creating our documents for both the declaration order and the individual EA process.

The terms of reference is the first step.  However, in this case, we have advanced studies to a point beyond where we would normally be in a terms of reference process.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, that's interesting because actually my next question was going to be -- again, correct me if I misunderstand the timing, but you're now expecting approval of the terms of reference, if approval is forthcoming, by mid-December.

And am I right in thinking that your timing for approval of the individual environmental assessment on that particular track is also the August of 2019 timing?

MS. CROLL:  So for a declaration order scenario?

MR. CASS:  No, no, sorry.  I am talking the individual -- I am on the other track now.  I had some questions about the declaration, I'm sorry.

I am on the individual EA track.  Your draft terms of reference, you're expecting approval mid-December if they are approved.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Is your timing for that track as well the August 2019 individual EA --


MS. CROLL:  No.

MR. CASS:  Okay.

MS. CROLL:  So as per Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, attachment 1, which is our overall schedule, you'll see that the timelines for the individual EA would be the draft submission January 31st, 2019, final submission to MECP March 8th, 2019, and an anticipated minister's decision based on regulated timelines October 7th, 2019.

MR. CASS:  So that's about ten months then from mid-December -- off the top of my head, it sounds to me like you're expecting that will all be done in ten months.  Is that right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Am I right in thinking that Hydro One has significant seasonal studies that it must conduct for purposes of its EA, and it planned to do these in 2019.  Is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's not correct.  Many of our seasonal studies were completed in 2018.

MR. CASS:  I didn't say all of them.  Are there some that you are --


MS. CROLL:  There are some remaining that are seasonal that we will complete in early 2019, in the spring.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And what are those?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't say specifically what they are. There are a number of studies related to natural heritage, visual assessments relating to the area that is not shared with NextBridge, so the park route.

MR. CASS:  I am sorry, I don't mean to be critical in any fashion.  I am surprised you wouldn't know that.  Are you in charge of this work for Hydro One?

MS. CROLL:  Actually, there is a long list of different studies.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. CROLL:  And some of those studies are based on consultation with stakeholders.  I could certainly get you a fulsome list of all those studies, but I could not recall the list of them for you today.

MR. CASS:  Okay, all right.  You are in charge of this project for Hydro One?

MS. CROLL:  I am the director of the entire environmental group of almost a hundred staff, and this is one of the many projects that we manage, yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  So we have confirmed there is a long list of these studies --


MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  -- and you are not able to tell me, sitting here today, which are the ones are remaining for 2019?

MS. CROLL:  I personally am not.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you. Can I take you to another spot in the compendium?  I have actually divided the documents into two pieces.  It's really just for context. So I don't have any questions about tab 27, but I included this for context.

This is the -- I will call it the covering memo that came with the comments I have referred to on the draft terms of reference.  I will let you catch up to me there.

MS. CROLL:  I need to catch up.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So tab 27; I don't have any questions on it, it's just there for context.  That's the covering memo.  I will let you get there.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  And I only provided that to give context for the comments that actually come at tab 28.

So I looked at all of the comments and by recollection, Hydro One received over 50 pages of comments on the draft terms of reference for its EA.  Is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  I am not aware of the exact number.  Is that how many are here?

MR. CASS:  No, no, I have just included an excerpt.  But there were many pages of comments, right, on the draft terms of reference?

MS. CROLL:  We received a number of comments, yes.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Well, would you think that I am wrong if I said it was over 50 pages?

MS. CROLL:  I actually don't know the exact number of pages.

MR. CASS:  So I included this extract because I wanted to take you to item 12.  So we are now at tab 28, and we are looking at the comments that came with that covering memo, and this is item 12 of the comments.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, can you provide some context for me as to what this document is?  When I see it's page 24 of 332 pages, these are comments?

MR. CASS:  Yes, the page numbering is Hydro One's from interrogatory responses.  I don't think that page numbering has anything to do with the original version of this document.  Just for the sake of making the compendium smaller, I extracted items from the interrogatory responses.

So again, these are comments provided by the Ministry with the covering letter at tab 27 to Hydro One on Hydro One's draft terms of reference for the environmental assessment.  And there's just one of these comments in particular that I was going to ask a few questions about.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Sorry, there was a lot of pages and I just pulled items out of them.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MR. CASS:  Comment 12 here, we can see that what the Ministry was asking Hydro One to do was avoid any direct reference to NextBridge, or the NextBridge project.

And if you look over in the proposed action or solution column, the Ministry asked Hydro One to revise the text accordingly, remove references to NextBridge or the NextBridge project.  Please remove any comparisons or subjective comments regarding the NextBridge project.

That was the comment that came back from the Ministry in response to the draft terms of reference?

MS. CROLL:  In the context of now referring to NextBridge as the designated electricity transmitter.  So not to remove, it's my understanding, the information.  It's to remove the name of the entity and avoid direct comparisons of route.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And it's my understanding that that's what Hydro One did.  In compliance with this comment, it submitted a revised version in which it removed these references to NextBridge, correct?

MS. CROLL:  I believe that's the case, yes.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.  Can I ask you then to turn to tab 26 of the compendium, please?

These are minutes of a meeting attended by representatives of the Ministry, of Hydro One, and of SNC-Lavalin.  That's correct, I think.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  On August 21st of 2018.  If I may, I would ask you to turn to item 3.3, which is at page 4 of the minutes.

MS. LONG:  Excuse me, Ms. Croll, were you at this meeting?

MS. CROLL:  No, I was not.

MS. LONG:  So your staff attends this meeting and then they report to you; is that how it works?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  I couldn't attend every meeting my staff goes to.

MS. LONG:  I understand.  You're working on other projects.  I am just trying to get a sense of who was at the meeting.  Okay, thank you.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  So I am reading the minutes as anyone else would.

MR. CASS:  Is this the first time you have read them, Ms. Croll?

MS. CROLL:  These particular minutes, I would expect that I read them before.  You can imagine there are a lot of documents associated with this project, however, so I am happy to have them as a reference, thank you.

MR. CASS:  Well, let me know if Hydro One has any disagreement with what's recorded here.  It appears that the Ministry enquired whether MNRF had been engaged on any of the field work and had provided any comments on the draft terms of reference.  Does Hydro One have any reason to disagree with that?

MS. CROLL:  So that's what the minutes say.  I have no reason to question that.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And --


MS. CROLL:  There is -- I will add that there is a response to that, where we note that MNRF has been engaged in the field program and were provided copies of the field program work plans in advance of the work occurring.  So, yes, MECP asked that, and we answered their question.

MR. CASS:  Yes, if you will let me carry on with my questions we will work our way through this.

MS. CROLL:  Certainly. I just wanted to clarify.

MR. CASS:  Yes, and so SNC confirmed that a letter from MNRF providing high-level comments had been received but that MNRF had deferred providing their detailed comments to the formal review period; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's what the minutes state.

MR. CASS:  And the Ministry, then, noted there may be a risk to the project schedule if MNRF requests additional studies to be completed to support the EA; right?

MS. CROLL:  That would be the case in any EA process.  They could request additional studies at any time.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And MNRF is, in fact, a very important commenting body insofar as the environmental assessment of Hydro One's proposal is concerned; aren't they?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And the indication that MNRF has deferred its detailed comments until the formal review period, I would suggest to you, is an indication that Hydro One cannot count on an expedited process of EA approval; right?

MS. CROLL:  I would suggest that's an unfair conclusion to make from that.  They simply stated that they would provide their comments during the review period.  That's not unusual.

MR. CASS:  Their detailed comments, Ms. Croll.

MS. CROLL:  So the nature of consultation is that we maintain very good relationships with regulators and stakeholders.  They provide us both formal and informal comments and guidance throughout the consultation process.  However, formal comments are often compiled during the formal review period.  This is not unusual.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And MNRF is a very important commenting body, and you would expect them to have important detailed comments in the formal period; wouldn't you?

MS. CROLL:  I can't presuppose what sorts of comments MNRF would have.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  So then we can leave it at this:  Since you don't know that, clearly these comments aren't known, and they have not yet been addressed, whatever they might be when they come forward.

MS. CROLL:  I can't comment on that.  I have no idea whether their comments will already have been addressed, whether they just require clarification.  I couldn't speculate what the comments would be.  But I can tell you that we meet regularly with MNRF and MECP.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Can I ask you to turn to tab 18 of the compendium, please.  I believe we've already looked at this document yesterday, if you recall.  These are the -- this is the consultant's report from Shared Value Solutions in respect of the draft terms of reference that was provided with a covering letter from the BN First Nation.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  That's fair?  Okay.  Could I ask you, please, to turn to the document from Shared Value Solutions at page 12.

Are you with me?  Sorry, have I not described it well?  So behind the BN letter, there is the Shared Value Solutions document.  I think we looked at it yesterday.  And I am looking at page 12 of that document.  So I am looking at the second paragraph under the heading 3.3, "terrestrial resources".  Again, I am not asking you to agree with this.  I will assume that Hydro One doesn't agree with it, but this particular First Nations representative says:

"Relying on another proponent's EA is not sufficient for determining existing environmental conditions and will result in Hydro One lacking insightful information that can only be derived by being a primary researcher. "

So I assume you are not going to tell me that Hydro One asserts this is unreasonable for this First Nation to hold such a view?

MS. CROLL:  So I am not certain exactly which portion of our work they are referring to, whether it's the shared sections of the corridor where we are relying on studies completed and also verifying that that information that we are relying upon is reasonable.  We certainly are undertaking our own studies in the areas of the route, that approximately 10 percent area, 12 percent area that differs from NextBridge's.  It's not clear from this which section they are referring to.  But it does -- it is their opinion that we should redo our own studies.

MR. CASS:  So in order to address this with them, then, I take it you feel you need more clarity about what they are saying?  Is that what you are telling me?

MS. CROLL:  Based on this excerpt, I'd have to read more of the document to understand exactly which portion they are referring to.

MR. CASS:  Okay, I will move on.  I don't want to take a lot of time on that.

MR. SPENCER:  If I just may elaborate slightly, I am the least knowledgeable member on this panel of it, but we are of course planning as part of the consultation process to gather traditional knowledge through traditional knowledge studies working in partnership with the communities that we are consulting with.  This is of course one of those communities, and so the assertion here that one needs to rely on traditional knowledge I think we would agree with, and it's part of our plan during consultation.

MS. CROLL:  Just to clarify, we also are doing consultation with Indigenous communities ourselves.  We are not relying on that part of information from NextBridge's work.  And included in that, and you can comment on this, are traditional knowledge studies that we are obtaining directly.

So that is true for the traditional knowledge portion.  However, there are some other studies, as we have said, that are publicly available that we will be referencing.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And I read this as referring specifically to existing environmental conditions, not to the other things you're talking about, but I don't want to argue.  I will just move on.

So in --


MS. CROLL:  I would add one of those -- I can't comment on what this particular community feels.  I mean, part of the issue may be they don't feel the original studies were completed sufficiently.  Part of our work is to identify gaps in the existing work, which we have done, and redo studies in areas that require more work either based on our own review or consultation.

MR. CASS:  Well, I don't see that in these words at all.  In fact, I see the opposite.  But I am going to move on.

MS. CROLL:  I am just explaining that we are not entirely relying on the work done in shared areas of the corridor.  We are doing our own verification and our own consultation and traditional knowledge studies.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

And so in relying on the work done by NextBridge are you saying then that Hydro One will take on in full all commitments that NextBridge has made in connection with the EA?

MS. CROLL:  So for areas that are shared where we are not doing our own studies or have not undertaken additional studies to perhaps gain clarity on some of those commitments, we would be looking at the final document and incorporating -- as you know, we are working on our own individual EA document and refining those commitments.  But if there was an environmental matter that required mitigation, we would ensure that that matter was mitigated.

MR. CASS:  So you are relying on the NextBridge work, but you cannot tell me sitting here today that you will commit to the same commitments that NextBridge has made?

MS. CROLL:  So there could be a number of examples of these types of commitments.  So for example, if there was a commitment to mitigate something because of a certain route or a certain species, we could potentially avoid something where NextBridge couldn't.  I can't comment on every scenario of impacts and mitigation.  I wouldn't want to commit to -- I wouldn't want to commit to the exact same mitigation measures outlined by NextBridge.  What I would commit to is that where there is an impact that's negative that requires mitigation, we would ensure we mitigate that impact.

MR. CASS:  So first of all, as you have indicated, the process of establishing these commitments, it's been fluid, and I would add to that as of the most recent iteration there's hundreds of them.  You are aware of that, are you?

MS. CROLL:  There are a number of commitments, yes.

MR. CASS:  Have you looked at them?

MS. CROLL:  I personally have not reviewed every commitment that is --


MR. CASS:  Have you looked at them at all?

MS. CROLL:  Pardon me?

MR. CASS:  Have you personally looked at them at all? I looked at them on the website; there are hundreds.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I am not disagreeing.

MR. CASS:  Do you have a problem -- okay.

MS. CROLL:  I am not disagreeing.  You asked me if I have looked at all of them and can recall them here or the details; I could not.

MR. CASS:  Are you aware, for example, that the commitments include commitments about detailed project plans to be provided by NextBridge?

MS. CROLL:  Hydro One would also create detailed project plans for our own project.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So in connection with the environmental assessment, what is your understanding of the commitments that have been made by NextBridge with respect to detailed project plans?

MS. CROLL:  You'll have to be more specific with the reference; that's a broad question.

MR. CASS:  I am asking you what your understanding is of the commitments made by NextBridge in connection with the environmental assessment regarding detailed project plans.

MS. CROLL:  So my understanding would be that through the course of NextBridge's study and work, where they identified any concerns from stakeholders, environmental impacts, their detailed project plans would address how they would mitigate those impacts.

MR. CASS:  So that's your understanding of the extent of the commitment that NextBridge has made in that regard?

MS. CROLL:  There would be many specific commitments along the corridor.  It's a large area, obviously, of study.

MR. CASS:  Can I take you to the last tab in the compendium, please, tab 31?  I just wanted to confirm my understanding of the wording here.

This is a response to a Board Staff interrogatory, Interrogatory No.5, and it says:
"In order to meet the December 2021 in-service date, Hydro One will require leave to construct no later than January 2019 and EA approval by August of 2019, so that construction can commence."

Is that what that is meant to say, or am I reading that incorrectly?

MS. CROLL:  That's for our baseline schedule, which would be corresponding to our baseline cost.  So if there were delays to those assumed timelines, I believe in our Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7, we have a table which outlines the scenarios and cost impacts of changes to though base assumed dates.

So it does not mean that we could not meet the 2021 in-service date.  It simply means that that was our baseline for a base cost and schedule.  The implications of delays and cost increases are shown here.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So I'm just trying to be sure I understand the word "require", then.  This word is used in the sense that if you don't have what is described in this response to part A of the question, there would be schedule and/or cost implications.  Is that what the word require means?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  So if the these baseline dates were not met, there would be implications to the schedule.

MR. CASS:  Now, I have an item in the compendium, and just in the interests of time, I don't think we need to turn to it because I think that this is pretty clear from the testimony so far.

But your August 2019 EA date, insofar as the declaration order is concerned, that's the timeline that you've established consistent with this undertaking interrogatory response we just looked at, is that correct?  August 2019 for the declaration order --


MS. CROLL:  Yes.  In our schedule, which is attachment 1 of Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 14, our EA schedule assuming a declaration order scenario would be August 15th, 2019.  So that is the basis for our base schedule.

MR. CASS:  I just wanted to confirm with you that August of 2019 timing.  That hasn't been given to you by the Ministry; that's your assessment of the timing?

MS. CROLL:  It's based on typical review times for declaration orders.

MR. CASS:  And how did you get these typical times?  You looked at examples of some declaration orders?

MS. CROLL:  I believe if we refer to previous testimony from MECP, I would have to check this, but I believe they said typically declaration orders can take six to nine months.

Again, this would be subject to check; I don't have their testimony before me.  But it is based on discussions with MECP, and MECP has been given our schedule and schedule updates at every meeting we have had with them.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Can I turn you to tab 23 of the compendium, please?  This is a response to SEC's Interrogatory No.27.  I will ask you to look at page 2 and, in particular, the response to part (c) of the question, small Roman numeral (i).

And I think you have already confirmed this in testimony, perhaps even in examination in-chief.  To meet the December 2020 in-service date of the East-West Tie line, construction work at Marathon station would have had to have commenced in July of 2018, right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And you say that this has been delayed because the station's environmental assessment has been linked to NextBridge's environmental assessment, right?

MS. CROLL:  The station work has been linked, yes.

MR. CASS:  Right.  So if Hydro One's project is approved by the OEB, the station's environmental assessment is going to be linked to Hydro One's environmental assessment for the Lake Superior Link project, isn't it?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  If the OEB approves Hydro One's Lake Superior Link project, the station's environmental assessment is going to be linked to Hydro One's environmental assessment for the Lake Superior Link Project, right?

MS. CROLL:  Are you talking about the leave to construct, or the EAs?

MR. CASS:  I am talking about both.  I will try to say it more slowly.

If this Board approves Hydro One's Lake Superior Link leave-to-construct application --


MS. CROLL:  Um-hmm.

MR. CASS:  Are you with me that far?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  In that event, the environmental assessment for the stations work is not going to be linked to an environmental assessment for a project that is no longer on the table.  It's going to be linked to Hydro One's environmental assessment for the Lake Superior Link project, right?

MS. CROLL:  I don't know that that's necessarily true.  My understanding is that MECP is looking for an approved environmental assessment for a line project, regardless of whose environmental assessment that is.

So what MECP wants to establish is that a line project will occur, because they don't want the work to start on the stations project, which could impact the natural environment, if for some reason the project were cancelled.

This was, as my understanding, part of the rationale.  So as long as a line project will proceed, the station work can also proceed.

MR. CASS:  Right.

MS. CROLL:  So for example, if the NextBridge EA is approved, as soon as they there's an approved EA for the line, the station work may proceed again.

MR. CASS:  Right.  But from what we are hearing, it sounds like the decision of this Board will come ahead of the approval of NextBridge's environmental assessment.

And I am putting to you a situation where the decision of this Board were to approve Hydro One's leave-to-construct application for the line, in that instance then, Hydro One's application for the stations, its environmental assessment, is going to have to be linked to Hydro One's Lake Superior Link.

MS. CROLL:  That's not my understanding from MECP.  And I could be wrong; I don't want to presuppose.

However, my understanding is that they want to ensure a line project is proceeding.  The decision before the minister will be to approve the EA that is before them, and they would approve that on that merit.  I have not been given an indication that they would withhold an EA approval based on a leave-to-construct decision.

MR. CASS:  So they would link it -- you are saying the Ministry is going to link their approval of the stations EA to a project that this Board would not have approved, and it would not have had even a final EA approval at the time of this Board saying --


MS. CROLL:  So it's it my understanding --


MS. LONG:  Has anyone asked the Ministry this question?  Has the Ministry been approached and asked this question?

MR. CASS:  I don't know.  I am reacting to what Hydro One has said as to the reason behind --


MS. CROLL:  So I have not -- I have no reason to believe that MECP would refuse an approval of an EA because the proponent isn't successful.

As I understand, it's a separate Ministry, it's a separate decision.  But I can't speak on behalf of MECP.

I haven't -- it's my understanding that as soon as we have an approved EA for a line, station work can proceed regardless of whose EA is approved.

MR. CASS:  Okay, well, just take the scenario that I have described, where the Board approves Hydro One's Lake Superior Link project and the Ministry says that your environmental assessment for the stations work should be linked with your environmental assessment for the line project --


MS. CROLL:  They are not linking the EAs, they are ensuring that they know that a line project will proceed before they allow the station work to proceed.  So to be clear, MECP has already acknowledged completion of the EA work for the stations and, in fact, that is complete.  What they have stated is that they will not issue any further permits and approvals for the station work until there is an approved line project.  That is their statement.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And in the scenario I am talking about that would not be the NextBridge project, it would not be an approved line project.

MR. SPENCER:  So I think here there may be an -- and Ms. Croll can elaborate if I don't get it quite right, but there is not necessarily -- the section 92 process and the NextBridge application for the East-West Tie is not coupled to the EA decision from the Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks on the underlying work taken to date based on the designation proceeding.  They are distinct. We are anticipating, and I suspect your client is also anticipating and certainly hoping for a favourable decision from the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change -- Environment, Conservation, and Parks, so that they can in fact demonstrate the individual assessment has been completed.  This is also one of the reasons we are pursuing in parallel the individual EA for ourselves as well, so we have -- on the assumption that NextBridge will in fact receive approval of that, our declaration order is based off the minor deviations to that.  In the event that we are not approved the declaration order, we are pursuing our own full individual EA.

MR. CASS:  Okay, sorry, Madam Chair.  Compendium tab 24 -- I did say I would come back to this.  This is the interrogatory response to a NextBridge interrogatory updating the four critical assumptions we talked about earlier.  That's at tab 24 of the compendium.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  And the question was whether each of the four assumptions remain critical, and with respect to the first assumption, it's indicated that it remains a requirement that a declaration order or an individual EA is received prior to October of 2019; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And if this doesn't happen there will be both cost and schedule impacts?

MS. CROLL:  And those are outlined in the attachment reference, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7.  So, again, it doesn't mean we can't meet the in-service date, it just means there would be impacts to schedule and cost.

MR. CASS:  And with respect to the other assumptions, utilization of NextBridge's environmental assessment remains a requirement to achieve an end of 2021 in-service date; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  Again, to be clear, that's the publicly available sections of the NextBridge work.  And for the declaration order scenario, we would require NextBridge's EA to have legal standing, which it currently does not.

MR. CASS:  Could I take you to tab 29 of the compendium, please.  This is an extract.  It's only an extract, because the document was much more lengthy, but there's a covering memo to give it context.  It was a presentation in December of 2017, I believe, for the Hydro One board of directors.  And I have included just -- I think it's called Appendix F of the presentation.  Are you with me there?  I am going to take you to Appendix F.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And this is a description of project risks and mitigation; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And one of the risks is inability to use the EA work done by NextBridge; right?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, may I just refer to the date of this document again?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I did say December of 2017.

MS. CROLL:  So this has since been updated, and we --


MR. CASS:  Yes, we will come to that.

MS. CROLL:  So again, these are based on assumptions that are no longer valid.  I would like to clarify that.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, then I don't need to spend a lot of time on it, but the indication here was that the inability to use the EA work done by NextBridge was given a medium to high, 50 to 75 percent probability, and the project impact was said to be catastrophic; right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, so at that point, because of the current 2020 in-service date which was in play at that time, and the uncertainty around MECP process, at this point our costs were based on some sort of amendment to the individual EA, which we later found out was not the case.  It would be a declaration order or an exemption.  Again, this is information from December.  But at that time, if we had to redo an entire EA from start to finish, it would have been catastrophic to the project.  That's what this risk represents.  It represents redoing all work and all consultation for the EA and not even being able to utilize publicly available information, which we now know is not the case.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  So can I take you to tab 30 of the compendium, please.  This is the risk register.  It also happened to be Mr. Murphy's compendium.  I apologize, it appeared in both places, but that's what happened.

Are you with me at tab 30 of the compendium?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I am.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  And again, we are looking at risk item 1.  It says that:

"This EA amendment procedure is unprecedented with the MOECC."

That's correct; isn't it?

MS. CROLL:  An amendment procedure, yes.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And it's indicated:

"It's unclear at this time if it will be accepted by the MOECC."

Correct?

MS. CROLL:  So those are the original words from the risk, and you will see in that, that square:

"September update, risk updated in September to reduce probability ranking as more clarity around process is now available."

So that language is exactly what was in the original risk, and not necessarily knowing the grey area we are in around a declaration order, completing an individual EA that's scoped.  I can tell you this was a difficult risk to update, because we don't believe we are in a position where we would have to redo an entire individual EA.  However, we are in a position where some of the work is being completed beyond what we expected for an amendment or exemption or deck order.

MR. CASS:  I was going to take you through all of these words, but you have jumped ahead.  Let me address the words that you left out.  It says:

"MOECC may require Hydro One to begin at a different stage gate in the EA process; that is, new terms of reference or a new environmental assessment."

So that was originally one of your concerns, right, that you might be sent back to a different stage gate; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  In the context, again, of redoing an EA.

MR. CASS:  Right.  And that is exactly what happened.  You were sent back to the first -- I am using your term.  You were sent back to the first stage gate, new terms of reference.

MS. CROLL:  So -- however, though, in a scoped EA process, so this risk was meant to represent a new individual EA and not utilizing any of NextBridge's work.  So if you look over to the far right-hand column under "additional comments cost and schedule", you will see that this risk would result in a two-year delay if we had to redo everything, potentially an order of magnitude $20 million.  This is to redo an entire individual EA.  But what we do reflect is that we are doing some individual EA work in a scoped individual EA but not an entirely new individual EA with the inability to rely on any publicly available information.

MR. CASS:  Well, this was provided on September 24th of this year.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  This is what you provided as the risk register.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And you were indicating at that time what I am looking at in this document, notwithstanding what you have been telling us about how you have been proceeding with the individual environmental assessment.  This is the risk register that you provided as of September 24th; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  And as I stated, I did my best to update a risk, which is certainly in a grey area.  So this risk was meant to suggest if we had to do an individual EA it would be catastrophic.  But what we know now is that we can do a scoped individual EA, as per the discussions we have had with the regulator, and the schedule that we have provided.

MR. CASS:  Well, I am suggesting to you that the fact that you have been sent back, to use your stage gate terminology, to the first stage gate in the whole process suggests that your risk is materializing that you are going to have to do all of this work.

MS. CROLL:  So I would reiterate that that original Statement, prior to the words "September 2018 update", was from the original risk when we assumed terms of reference being sent back to the beginning was to redo a piece of work entirely without reliance on NextBridge's EA.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And we have been through the amount of time it took you on your terms of reference and the amount of comments, right, and you are still waiting for that approval just on your terms of reference as of mid-December of this year, right?

MS. CROLL:  Our original schedule expected that regulated time frame for the review.  It has shifted by two weeks because of the recent events that I described.

However, the terms of reference purpose is also to outline the way consultation will be conducted, and it is very important to outlining how a scoped individual EA will be conducted.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Well, I am afraid we are into argument.  But this is exactly the concern you're expressing here, that you would be sent back to that stage gate.

MS. CROLL:  I am just telling you what the purpose of document is; I am not trying to argue.  I am just stating what the purpose of the terms of reference is, and part of that is to outline how the consultation will be done.

MR. CASS:  Would you agree with me there is a multitude of permits that Hydro One will need to obtain after approval of an environmental assessment for the line project?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  They would include things like water crossings, access roads, land use entitlements?

MS. CROLL:  Those are typical permits, yes.

MR. CASS:  Would you have a sense, for example, of how many permits will be needed for water crossings?

MS. CROLL:  I would not have a sense.  That would be finalized based on final access routes, final design.  I couldn't speculate on how many water crossings we would have at this point.

MR. CASS:  You don't know.  Access roads; do you know how many you will need permits --


MS. CROLL:  Again, as I previously stated, those will be finalized after the studies are done in the EA process.

MR. CASS:  This is item 19 in the risk register, right, the permits?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And you give that even odds.  It's called even odds, but it's described as 50 percent to 74 percent of materializing that risk, right?

MS. CROLL:  So just to be clear, that risk is additional permits that we don't anticipate.  So obviously when we are budgeting a process, as you've stated, we can't possibly know every permit required based on the EA work that's done.  So we have included what we consider to be a reasonable cost for permits and approvals, but knowing that there could be additional permits and approvals that we don't anticipate.

This is a risk that we carry with the amount you see shown for any of these additional permits. And by the probability rating -- and I am not going to explain the Monte Carlo analysis, but by giving that a higher rating, a larger proportion of that contingency is carried.

So yes, we would expect that we can make our reasonable estimates and best guesses based on our experience and the work to date.  However, there could always be additional permits, and that's what this risk factor carries.

MR. CASS:  Exactly.  And I'm not -- it's not that I am not interested in the costs.  Mr. Murphy covered that yesterday.  I am addressing the schedule.  You have given this 50 percent to 75 percent odds of materializing, right?

MS. CROLL:  Some of -- yes, so all -- some of these items --


MR. CASS:  It says it right there.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And schedule impact is a three- to six-month delay, right?

MS. CROLL:  It could be, yes.

MR. CASS:  Just a couple of other items –

MS CROLL:  But that would -- again, those are if the full risk is materialized.  There could be a number of minor permits that are needed which didn't result in that schedule delay, and we do have, I believe -- Sonny can comment -- float in the construction schedule for such things.

MR. CASS:  That's not really of interest to me.  I am just interested in the probability -- you have given it a probability, whatever it is.  You have given it a probability.  That's what's of interest to me.  Is the probability 50 to 74 percent, or is it not?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I think the probability that's shown in there, as Ms. Croll has referred to, is for extra permits that were unforeseen, right.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I will refer you through to the divisions of responsibilities table between Hydro One and SNC-Lavalin, and you will actually see that a number of these permits that you are referring to are in the fixed price EPC.

MR. CASS:  I am not asking questions about costs.  Mr. Murphy covered that yesterday.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I am not talking about costs.  It's sitting within our schedule.

MR. CASS:  I am just talking about something that you are giving a 50 to 75 percent chance of happening, and it has associated with a three- to six-month delay.  Is there a problem with my reading it that way?

MS. CROLL:  Perhaps a more accurate estimate of schedule impact would be zero to six months.  I mean, there are certain permits that may not delay us and as SNC has indicated, again that's a schedule risk that's in the EPC contract.

MR. CASS:  Okay, so we will amend that to zero to six months.  Just very quickly, before I close off, a couple more of these.

Item 9 is rated at again at even odds, 50 to 74 percent, and that's a two- to three-month delay to start of construction associated with that, right?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, I am just looking for item 9.  Okay, yes.

MR. CASS:  And item 10 is given a likely probability, 75 to 94 percent, and that's a two  --


MS. CROLL:  Sorry, again just to clarify on item 9, the risk is described -- so this is assuming -- this risk is if the NextBridge individual EA doesn't meet the requirements.

So let's say -- again, one of our assumptions is that NextBridge will deliver an approved EA.  It's the assumption for our declaration order, and we have no reason to believe they won't, despite the fact that it's not approved yet.  The approval continues to be delayed and it has no legal standing.

So to be clear, this risk is if the NextBridge individual EA does not meet these requirements, so then there could be gaps in studies that were done for those shared sections which we don't know about right now.  Right now, at our own risk, we assume that NextBridge will do sufficient studies to deliver an approved EA.  So it's a shared risk.  If they don't, they will have to redo studies as well.  So again, this risk isn't that our EA isn't good enough; it's that the sections that we are assuming are good enough for regulators from NextBridge's EA aren't sufficient.  Just to be clear on what that is.

MR. CASS:  I am just looking at the odds you've associated with particular things, and the time delay you have associated with that.

So are you saying then that this shouldn't have even odds, this should be much lower?

MS. CROLL:  No.  What I am saying is in the event that that risk materialized, it would have that delay on schedule and, frankly, not knowing the status of NextBridge's EA or if there are concerns, we were -- we were reluctant to say that it's an unlikely risk.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I think I am going to leave it there.  I was going to go through other items, but it just seems to become argument anyway.  So I might as well just leave it for argument.

We can read what we think this table says, and we will leave it for argument.  That completes my questions, Madam Chair, thank you.

MS. LONG:  We are now going to turn to the Metis Nation of Ontario, Ms. Strachan.  Are you ready to proceed?  And I just ask that you ask questions in relation to the EA, if you are able to separate your cross that way. allowing other parties to have the same opportunity and then you will have more time.  Depending on the schedule, maybe today, I don't know, maybe tomorrow that you would be able to ask questions.

So I think I have you down for 10 to 15 minutes just on the EA.  Is that a good estimate?

MS. STRACHAN:  Yes, that is a fair estimate.  I did think I was going to question after BLP.  I can question beforehand, but okay.

MS. LONG:  I am in your hands. I think BLP, I have you down for 60 minutes, but I don't have a breakdown for EA, what you are going to ask about the EA.  So can you give me an estimate?

MS. LEDOUX:  If you think we will have our whole 60-minute today, then I'm fine with going after --


MS. LONG:  It's looking good.  It's looking good for you that you probably will.  So maybe we will start with the Metis Nation.  Thank you.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Just to be fair to the witnesses, we are going to do this and then we will take a break, and then I have you, Mr. Rubenstein, after the break, okay -- just so parties are aware.

MS. STRACHAN:  I believe everyone should have a copy of the MNO compendium of documents for the cross-examination.  It was e-mailed around yesterday, and I believe there are hard copies available.

MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have that?

MR. SPENCER:  We would love a few hard copies down here, please.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay, let's get those.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark the MNO compendium as Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  MNO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1.

MS. LONG:  So we are waiting for the witnesses to get theirs?  Is that -- okay.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Strachan:


MS. STRACHAN:  And I do intend to start at tab 12 if you want to pull that up.

MR. SPENCER:  I might just suggest if the references are going to be to interrogatory exhibits like this that are already in evidence --


MS. STRACHAN:  They will be.

MR. SPENCER:  -- we can turn them up.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure, okay.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, are you okay with that?  Your witness panel is saying they are good to go without hard copies of the compendium.  Are you okay?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I only have just a couple of things that I'll refer to in these questions, so I think it should be pretty simple to pull them up.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so I would just like to go to page 2 of this interrogatory --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, here they come, so maybe I just don't want -- I don't want people to be distracted.  And can we just make sure over the break that the witnesses have the next compendiums that they are going to need for the rest of the afternoon, please, thank you.  Okay.  Ms. Strachan, sorry about that.

MS. STRACHAN:  No problem.

I would just like to go to page 2 of this response, and in particular (b), it states that -- and this is a quote:

"In order to fully engage Indigenous communities contributing studies within Pukaskwa National Park Hydro One is currently finalizing capacity funding agreements with the three communities most affected by work within the park."

Can you identify which three Indigenous communities that is?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sure, is it's Biigtigong Anishnaabek, Pic Mobert, and Biigtigong First Nation.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, and how did Hydro One determine which three communities are going to be most directly affected by work within the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  Parks Canada suggested or actually required us to work with those three communities particularly in relation to our work through the park.

MS. STRACHAN:  And is Hydro One funding traditional land use studies for those three communities specifically to study the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the capacity funding agreements that we have offered to all communities contemplate traditional knowledge if communities are interested in that.  We do have an agreement with Biigtigong Anishnaabek which does contemplate traditional knowledge and are currently working with them in that nature.

MS. STRACHAN:  So for a community like the Metis Nation of Ontario communities who weren't identified by Parks Canada, would Hydro One fund TK studies for the portion of the line that goes through the park?

MS. GOULAIS:  The capacity funding agreements that are offered to all Indigenous communities, including the Metis, do allow for traditional knowledge on the project in the areas of interest for those communities.  So it's based on what area of interest of our project that a particular First Nation or Metis community is interested in.  I would assume -- I am not a traditional knowledge expert, but I would assume that a community or a -- a community would be interested in traditional knowledge in an area of where their rights are impacted.

MS. STRACHAN:  And that would be regardless of whether that area had already been subject to a study done by NextBridge; is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  Correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

And when does Hydro One anticipate that all of these traditional knowledge studies will be completed by, assuming that an Indigenous community is interested in conducting them?

MS. CROLL:  I don't think we have an exact date for that.  We want to ensure we have enough time to consult properly with any community that has an interest.

MS. STRACHAN:  So I am just wondering how it fits into your EA time lines, if there is a certain date at which you need to have this information in order to be able to incorporate it within that time line.

MS. CROLL:  Right.  So we know that we have finished most of the studies or many of the studies that we need.  They are ongoing or to finish late this fall.  As we mentioned, there are a few studies that are seasonal-dependent in the park area, which we would be doing early next spring, and obviously we would be submitting documents before those are completed to Parks Canada, as we outlined, but at that point we would still be seeking traditional knowledge and engagement with First Nations on any monitoring they have for that, if there were any outstanding areas of archeological work that needed to be completed next year, which again are not required to submit our EA, but for reasons of scheduling we would like to finish that work as soon as possible.  Again, we would continue to be engaging First Nations and seeking traditional knowledge information.

MS. STRACHAN:  I am just wondering, is there -- if you can pin down more specifically by what general date you would need to have traditional knowledge studies in order to be able to incorporate them into your final EA?

MS. CROLL:  I think ideally we would like to have those incorporated into the final individual EA before the submission date, so again, the final individual EA submission date is March 8th, but understanding, as I mentioned, for the parks portion there is a different review requirement from Parks Canada.  So we expect to be submitting our documents conditional on completion of a few seasonal-related studies in the spring.

So I would say as a rough guideline by mid-summer 2019 we should have collected all the information from interested Indigenous communities.

MS. STRACHAN:  So just to clarify, so for the parks portion it would be mid-summer 2019 you would hope to have all of that information?

MS. CROLL:  Early to mid, yes, depending on, again, the timing windows of specific studies, roughly.

MS. STRACHAN:  And for areas outside the park, so that would be part of your final individual EA if you do need to complete one, you would need some lead time before that submission to incorporate these studies.  So if you're aiming for the end of March to do your final EA, you would need two weeks or a month, or how long do you think you would need to incorporate traditional knowledge information?

MS. CROLL:  I think it depends on the extent of the information.  I don't think I can really give you a hard time line on that.

MS. STRACHAN:  I guess I am just trying to understand how much time there is between now and when you submit your final EA for communities to be able to do these studies and give them to you.

MS. CROLL:  I mean, we are working with communities now and trying to gather as much information and understand which communities want to be engaged, and much of that is done for the study areas outside the park, as we identified within the park there are some delays due to getting agreements in place with and fully consulting some Indigenous communities.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So I guess we can just say it would need to be sometime before the end of March.

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we expect that for the provincial EA document, because, really, it's Parks Canada that's most interested in the park piece, because they have jurisdiction over the park, we would want the studies outside the park to be finalized for March 8th for the provincial process, but we do have a bit more time for Parks Canada.


So, again, the final approval date from Parks Canada that we hope for is August 15th, so we would expect they would need several weeks to review a final document, knowing we submitted a draft document earlier in the year.

So it would be that additional information for seasonal studies that we would be adding, or potentially they could grant approval contingent on completing those studies.  It's hard to say what Parks Canada would do.  But ideally we would have that information before submitting a final document to Parks Canada.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

I'd like to move on and turn to tab 9 of the MNO compendium.  And this is Hydro One's response to OEB Staff IR 11.  And I'd like to go to page 5 of this document.  And in the second paragraph -- I won't read it out to you, but beginning at line 6, it says that Hydro One had anticipated that the Ministry of Energy would identify the six BLP communities as requiring deeper consultation.  And I am just wondering on what information was that assumption based?  And I am asking about this in the EA section because it is tied to the increase in budget for consultation on the EA.

So I am wondering on what information was that assumption based.

MS. GOULAIS:  So the assumption about the BLP communities requiring deeper consultation is based on proximity to the route.  It's based on information from the designation proceeding in 2013.  It's also based on evidence submitted by the BLP communities themselves in this proceeding about being most directly impacted by this project.

So that is where that assumption is based from.  And again, I think I had mentioned this in my opening remarks that we were expecting the Ministry of Energy to provide depth of consultation, which they did not.  And so we
are -- the delegation of consultation instead included all communities as rights based.

MS. STRACHAN:  And what, in your opinion, does deeper consultation require?  If the Ministry had made differentiations, I am just wondering, from Hydro One's perspective, what is additionally required of you to undertake this deeper consultation.

MS. GOULAIS:  Is in our experience from other projects, it's typically more time and resources required for that level of consultation, both for the proponent undertaking that work as well as for the community.  So it typically requires more time and more resources.

MS. STRACHAN:  And that leads me right to my question about budget increases.  So if you could just flip back one page to page 4 of this same IR, and there's a subheading about halfway down the page that says Indigenous consultation cost development phase.

And the first line there, it says:  "The Indigenous consultation estimate has increased by 1 million, which is a function of increased consultation given the environmental assessment scope has changed," and then some other things are listed.

So could you clarify what the development phase means for consultation on the EA?  Is this everything from now until the final EA is approved?

MS. CROLL:  I can answer that.  So the development phase definition doesn't correspond to the EA process.  Our definition of the development phase is anything prior to the leave-to-construct date, which, for assumptions of our calculations, we have said is January 15th, right -- or sorry, the 15th.

So basically, it has nothing to do with before the EA is done or after.  The EA will continue through that sort of arbitrary date of leave to construct.  So it's just that portion of the costs of the increase that lands before, based on our forecast, January 15th.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  So this increase of $1 million was between now and OEB --


MS. CROLL:  Up until now and January 15th, correct.  And then there are other increases in what we define as the construction phase, which isn't actually construction yet.  It's just that piece of the phase that lands from anything after January 15th.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  And I just want to go back to something that I had heard in Mr. Cass's questioning of Ms. Croll.

You had stated that Hydro One wouldn't commit to using the same mitigation identified by NextBridge, is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  So I think we would commit to mitigation for any of the same issues, but I couldn't comment on whether those mitigation methods would be exactly the same.  They may likely be, but there could be other solutions or accommodations we could reach possibly.

MS. STRACHAN:  And that was actually my next question, whether if NextBridge had identified a negative impact, are you taking that as a given and you will mitigate in some way, or are you undertaking your own impact assessment?

MS. CROLL:  Right.  So we are undertaking our own impact assessments and we are for areas of the corridor that are not shared.  And we are reviewing and verifying for ourselves the impacts of shared portions of the route where we are reviewing NextBridge's studies.

So I would say where there is a negative impact identified, we would accept that.  We would assume that that would remain if we had the same methods and route, a negative impact that we would need to mitigate.  But again, there is often many ways to mitigate an impact, and we may not have exactly the same impacts by virtue of things like a narrower corridor, for example.  Because even in shared portions of the route, I believe the width of the corridor for the current proposal is 67 meters widening where -- 64 rather; we are 37.

So, for example, if there were an impact from the footprint of the NextBridge work, yet our corridor was narrower and didn't have the same impact, then we wouldn't need to mitigate that.

So we wouldn't commit to mitigating something that isn't there with our method.  So again, we have to wait until our studies are final and we understand exactly what our own impacts are, and that's when we would commit to final mitigation measures in either a declaration order or an individual EA.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, we are going to break until 2:30, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:17 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:39 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a compendium of documents.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Let's mark that, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It contains information on the record as well as a couple additional information that I provided my friends on Monday.

I just have a few questions for you, Ms. Croll.  The first -- and I am not even sure it's entirely for you, but just in case.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's a follow-up on some of the things that were said in examination-in-chief and some discussion yesterday and in the interrogatory responses with respect to the time line on the station project.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is that the environmental assessment has been delayed and thus it's Hydro One's position that the project now cannot come in -- the stations project cannot come into service for December 2020.

MS. CROLL:  So just to clarify, the EA work hasn't been delayed.  The EA work that was completed for the stations is complete, and MECP acknowledged that in May.  What they have said is that they won't allow us to proceed with the work, so any further -- other approvals and things we need after the EA, they won't allow any of those to be issued by them or other Ministries such as MNRF until there is an approved EA for the line.

So EA work is complete for the station, the class EA work.  However, it almost doesn't matter, because we are not allowed to proceed, any proponent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my only clarification then would be to that is that you have submitted all the EA documents, you think everything is fine, except they just -- they are waiting for the approval until the approval of the NextBridge EA.

MS. CROLL:  That's exactly right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But my understanding is now the position is Hydro One will just not be able to bring the stations in line for December 2020; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  Because construction needed to begin in July of this year, 2018, in order -- following the schedule as planned and costs to be completed by end 2020, and elsewhere in our evidence we state that there was a bit of play in the schedule but August 15th of this year was the last possible date when approval would have allowed us to meet that 2020 in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what's the new best estimate of when the stations project will be able to be completed?

MS. CROLL:  Right, so our current schedule is based on the assumption that the NextBridge individual EA would have been approved by end of Q4 of this year, and that would allow us to begin the station work in January of 2019.  That was the basis for our new schedule.  Now we are now aware that it's a February 2019 completion date, anticipated completion date, for the individual EA for the line from NextBridge.  So that would be the earliest start.

And Robert, you can comment on how that affects the station work schedule.

MR. REINMULLER:  So I can confirm that basically initially the schedule was to start in January, but because of the specific conditions of the area in the north being minus 35 in January, we wouldn't have started the construction until about March, the critical construction, and that would still allow us to complete the station work by the end of 2021.

So even if we suffered another month delay, we could still finish the work by the end of 2021.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you're saying you can have it by 2021, I am just asking what month is the best estimate of you are going to be able to complete the station work?

MR. REINMULLER:  Currently we are forecasting by December 2021.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the earliest now, I guess, based on your current projections is December 2021.

MR. REINMULLER:  That is the high-level estimate.  We are working to refine that, but what I can tell you today based on what we know is December 2021.

MR. SPENCER:  And I might just elaborate on Mr. Reinmuller's comments.  Of course we are looking for ways to compress that schedule, so we are exploring opportunities by which we can -- you know, subject to the start of construction when can we compress construction activities and crash schedule to be able to finish the project sooner.  December is our strong forecast, but I am also challenging the project team to see if they can shave some time off of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I will ask some follow-ups later.

With respect to the environmental assessment work that you are doing now, either to supplement the work that NextBridge has done or to work with respect to the -- to do your own individual environmental assessment, what percentage of the total costs would you say that you're expending with respect to environmental assessment work, is work essentially that is duplicative of stuff that NextBridge has already done?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, could you ask that again?  What percentage?  Are you asking what percentage of the total EA work is duplicative of NextBridge's?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am trying to understand -- my understanding from the motion hearing and the technical conference is, you are going to do some duplicative work to -- I believe there were studies that you needed to -- you were going to have the raw data, and you'd have to do some work underneath, there may be some other work that you're doing with respect to the environmental assessment process.  I'm trying to.  I am trying to understand as part of your development budget you have environmental assessment costs.  I want to understand what percentage of those costs are really for things that NextBridge has already done that are duplicative?

MS. CROLL:  I don't think I could give you an exact percentage.  I could describe what types of activities would fall in each category, but I would have to go back to the budget for the project and sort out which items were duplicative.

What I would say is that there are a number of things that we are required to do for an individual EA that we wouldn't for a declaration order as we anticipated.  So for example, a lot of these things aren't necessarily redoing specific studies, but they have to do with consultation and documentation.

So as an example, as Christine mentioned, we are more fully consulting Indigenous communities along the entire corridor.  Our report will document the entire corridor, whereas the declaration order was anticipated to really only reference where we differed from NextBridge's route, so the park and approaches.

So I couldn't answer exactly which percentage of the work is duplicative, but there is some, obviously, because we are reconsulting communities, we are reporting on things that have already been done, and you're correct, in some places, which I couldn't quantify a cost, we are doing some additional studies where we feel there may be gaps in the existing publicly available work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could you give me an order of magnitude on the budget?  Are we talking, this is maybe 5 or 10 percent, are we talking 50 percent of the environmental assessment?

MS. CROLL:  Yeah, I wouldn't be comfortable doing that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. SPENCER:  Certainly at the total project level, if I may, you know, in an order-of-magnitude type conversation, some of the work in the development phase is reverification or duplicative work, perhaps, but let's not lose sight of the fact that the substantial benefits that we are proposing in our application.  So although there may be a few million dollars of arguably duplicative costs, when you look at the difference between both the capital savings, the O&M savings, and the lesser environmental impacts, we feel that those were prudently incurred, and as stated previously, we would not be seeking recovery of those costs unless we were in fact granted leave.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you are granted leave you will seek recovery of those costs, correct?

MR. SPENCER:  Yes, so as per section -- Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1, we have provided some commentary which is in your compendium, I can see, around seeking recovery of those costs, subject to the Board's discretion, of course.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 67 of my compendium, please.  So this is an excerpt from the NextBridge application.  This is their original project schedule; do you see that?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you see that they had forecasted at the time that they filed, which would have been last year, it was to obtain environmental assessment approval in Q2 2018; do you see that?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can flip, now, can I ask you to turn to page 68 of the compendium, so it's the next page.  This is the schedule as of, my understanding, the motion hearing.  This is from an undertaking in the motion hearing.  And do you see under the environmental, the approval has then moved to October 2018; correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there was a delay there.

And if I can ask you to turn now to page 74, this is the latest schedule and response to NextBridge's response to Staff IR 49.

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, could you repeat the page?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, page 74.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now that's moved to February 2019.  Do you see that?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  So their environmental assessment schedule has moved consistently.  It's taken longer than they have expected over the last year, correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if I could ask you now to turn to page 78.  I think this is actually what you had referenced in your discussion with Mr. Cass, some comments you had made, Ms. Croll, at the technical conference, and I am looking at line 5 here.

I think this is actually specifically what you were referring to.  Ms. Croll, you say:
"So we have had numerous meetings with MOECC with respect to a declaration order.  It is difficult to presuppose how long that would take.  Typically, it's shorter than an individual EA process, and we've heard that MOECC suggests a range of six to nine months yesterday.  We feel that would be appropriate, given the six months that we've suggested."

Do you see that?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So your understanding for a declaration order to take about six to nine months and you have chosen, for your scheduling purposes, the shorter end of that, correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And my understanding as well, as you earlier discussed, the environmental assessment approval on the stations project has also been delayed, correct?

MS. CROLL:  No.  To be clear, the environmental assessment work is complete on the station and the Ministry of the Environment is satisfied with the EA work.  They are awaiting the outcome of the line EA to allow the station work to proceed.  So the EA is complete.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The approval had been delayed?

MS. CROLL:  No, the EA is approved.  It's the proceeding to additional permits and approvals -- so for example, for a drainage system, or to begin tree clearing.

So the EA work is complete.  It's the post-EA work that MECP will not allow to proceed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I am confused now.

MS. CROLL:  I apologize.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:   I thought you didn't have environmental assessment approval.  You may have submitted all the work, you think they are satisfied with it.  But they won't actually -- I'm not sure if it's a certificate, or a decision, or whatever you get from --


MS. LONG:  Can you clarify that?  Sorry.  For the stations you're talking about?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, for the station project.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.  So for the stations, the studies and work to support the class EA for Marathon station is complete, and MECP has acknowledged completion.  There are no further submissions.

However, to proceed with the station work, there will be other non-EA related permits and approvals required and MECP has stated they will not issue any of those until there is an approved line EA.

It's an important distinction, because MECP is not suggesting that there's an issue with the EA work for the station.  They are merely suggesting that they don't want us, and won't allow us to proceed with the station work until basically they know a line is happening.  One of -- as I mentioned earlier, one of the reasons they cited was let's say there's environmental impacts from the station work, like tree clearing.  They don't want that to proceed if there will be no line project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you started off today by telling us there's been a delay of two weeks in the comment period on the terms of reference.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.  So there has been a -- by virtue of a request from Indigenous communities, MECP has granted an additional -- various times to certain communities, but at most, a three-week additional review period.  And they have informed us that they expect this would delay their decision on this terms of reference by two weeks.

At this point, it does not affect the final schedule.  However, we wanted to correct that change in the milestones in the schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would NextBridge's EA for the line being pushed from Q2 2018 to October 2018, and now to February 2019, and a delay already with your own project, the two weeks delay that we just talked about, why would it make sense for your environmental assessment schedule with respect to the designation order to take the shorter end of the six- to nine-month window?

MS. CROLL:  So I can't comment on what concerns there may be with the NextBridge EA.  MECP has made it clear that they won't discuss the details of their meetings with NextBridge or concerns.

So that is why we are independently verifying some of the information, doing some supplemental studies where we feel there may be gaps.  But we don't really have information on why MECP is delaying.

All we can do is to do our own diligence and ensure for our portions of the EA, we are doing work sufficiently and keep good contact with regulators to ensure there aren't delays.

I would stress again that 78 percent of the route is shared and presumably, the issues resolution phase that is described as happening currently will resolve any of those issues on 78 percent of the line, so leaving our remaining section, approximately 10 percent to 12 percent, as really the key outstanding scope.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand from testimony with respect to the designation order that you would be seeking, you can't submit the materials to do that until there's an approved NextBridge individual EA.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.  So MECP has indicated that until the NextBridge individual EA has legal standing, so until it is approved, we cannot submit our declaration order.

Now, we can work through our studies, we can prepare documentation for that, we can discuss it with MECP, ensure that what we are doing is sufficient.  However, the formal submission would not be reviewed until there is an individual EA with legal standing that we could reference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that, I guess, the forecast is February 2019 for that?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you're seeking -- both parties are seeking approval from this Board before that date?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can you help me understand what happens in this scenario?  The Board awards you the project, but NextBridge then tells the MOECC -- or sorry, the new, the Ministry of the Environment, don't consider our project anymore.  We are not the designated --


MS. CROLL:  I can't presuppose what NextBridge may tell MECP.  It's my understanding that NextBridge is to deliver a completed EA for the project, and that's what they are being paid for.

It's my understanding from MECP that EA approval is a separate process from leave-to-construct, section 92 approval.  And what the Minister of Environment will do is review the document before them, judge it on its merits, and they have their options of approval, approval with conditions.  So I see no reason why an EA couldn't be approved regardless of who the successful leave-to-construct applicant is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, but my question is -- I just want to understand how this may impact your schedule.

The Board awards you the project and for reasons that maybe nobody likes, NextBridge decides to essentially write a letter to the Ministry and say thank you very much; we are not the designated transmitter; please don't consider our application anymore.

And so there will be no decision on that environmental assessment.  It will not have the legal standing that you've said you need for the declaration order.

So I am just trying to understand what happens in that case.  What's the impact on your project schedule?

MS. CROLL:  So I would think that's an unlikely scenario.  However, if that were the case, at that point Hydro One would pursue the individual EA option, which we are carrying out in parallel, and we would continue to rely on publicly available information that NextBridge had created, studies.

What I would suggest, though, is that our -- there would be perhaps more risk associated with that because we would know -- we would have no assurance that MECP and MNRF and other stakeholders had actually approved the NextBridge EA and that it was sufficient to be an individual EA.

So again, that is why that's not our base case scenario in either case.  We assume there will be an approved NextBridge EA, and we have no reason assume there won't be.  However, our individual EA process allows us to proceed and get our own approval, in the unlikely event that occurs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is still on the schedule, that you will have an individual approval by August 2019?

MS. CROLL:  I think we have to re-examine that.  I mean, I would be less confident in saying all of NextBridge's work was sufficient to assess and mitigate any environmental impacts on the project if an approved EA was not available.

However, we are independently reviewing the studies, so I would expect we could continue with our individual EA process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right. So I want to just follow-up on that.  If we are going down the individual assessment route, so there is no NextBridge approved EA for whatever reason, or you can't get a designation order and you have to go the individual assessment route, what is then the revised forecast of when you would expect to get the environmental assessment approval?

MS. CROLL:  I am not sure I could speculate on that, because I would have no knowledge of deficiencies in the NextBridge EA.  We are not privy to the comments from other agencies.  If there were concerns that, say, a stakeholder had with NextBridge's EA, we wouldn't necessarily know what that was at this point, because those comments are -- those meetings that are with regulators and NextBridge, we are not privy to those conversations.

So again, we could proceed.  I wouldn't want to commit to a certain schedule which is outside of the assumptions we've made.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, then let me ask one more question, I guess.  It's maybe to your colleagues.  The project schedules in the application and the confidence intervals you have about your expectation you are going to be able to meet the December 2021 deadline, am I correct then that's based on getting a designation order, not doing an individual environmental assessment.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.  So to clarify, if you refer back to our schedule which is in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, Attachment 1, the -- sorry, could you ask the question again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In different parts of the evidence in the motion hearing --


MS. CROLL:  No, I know, I just lost my train of thought.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- we asked, and you were asked based on Monte Carlo simulations what's the -- what's the likelihood you are going to meet or exceed the dates --


MS. CROLL:  Okay, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- of December 2021, and my --


MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- question is, based on the comments you made, you seemed unsure about how the time line would work on an individual assessment --


MS. CROLL:  So I am not unsure about the time lines, and your scenario was if NextBridge's EA wasn't approved, so keep in mind our schedule scenario is for a declaration order or an individual EA there is an approved EA document that we are confident the Ministry of Environment has accepted, and we will then submit our -- our documents once that is complete.

So in terms of the schedule, again, to reiterate, that schedule that we presented was assuming an approval date for the NextBridge EA of end of Q4 2018.  We now know that's February.  So we would then refer to the EA delay implications, which are in Number 7, which would be Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7, and those scenarios.

So basically, now that NextBridge's EA won't be approved until February 2019, that August 15th date would move by two months.

MR. SPENCER:  So if I might just -- the answer to your question was --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I could just short-circuit this --


MS. CROLL:  Oh, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- because maybe I understood something.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When I asked you about the August 2019 date, I think you maybe have clarified that, either -- that's based on getting an individual assessment or declaration order if there's an approved NextBridge environmental assessment?

MR. SPENCER:  Right.

MS. CROLL:  Well, sorry, the August 15th date is for a declaration order, October 7th is for an individual EA, so in either case, given a two-month delay in what we assume to be the NextBridge individual EA, we would then add two months to our own schedule.

MR. SPENCER:  Just to clarify, the base case that our budget and our baseline schedule is based on is in fact on a declaration order, assuming the August 15th, 2019 time line.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  So now we are going to move to Mr. Buonaguro.  You have ten minutes on EA questions, I understand?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to float around.  I only have a couple references to make.  I don't have a compendium or anything like that, but they are documents I think you have mostly gone through already.

I want to start with a follow-up question from Mr. Rubenstein's cross-examination.  When he suggested to you the possibility that NextBridge, upon a hypothetical failure to obtain leave to construct in January 2019 and Hydro One being successful, the hypothetical that they would withdraw their application for EA approval, you suggested that you didn't think that would be plausible.  And in answering you suggested that part of the reason was because you said that's what they are being paid for.  Could you expound on that?

MS. CROLL:  So I would expect -- and I couldn't presume -- that if OEB had asked NextBridge to complete an approved individual EA document for the project, I believe, as we established in the last hearing, the EA document is for the project, not necessarily for the proponent.  So we would expect that to recoup the costs of that work.  They would be required to produce an approved individual EA.  All those studies would not be of much value if there were no approved document and certainly not of any value if others could not use that work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are basing that on an understanding that the scope of the designation of NextBridge in the designation proceeding included bringing the project forward for EA approval to its completion?

MS. CROLL:  That is our assumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, we don't have to get into whether I think that's true or they think that's true.  I just wanted to understand that is what you are saying.

MS. CROLL:  Again, that's what we are assuming.  I couldn't presuppose the opinion of OEB.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good, thank you.

And following along those lines and referring to Exhibit I-1-14, which is the rather large PDF, which is all the answers that you gave, as I understand it, to Board Staff interrogatories with respect to the EA process, generally speaking.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at part -- I think it's G -- I am just pulling it up myself.  Or Part I, I am looking at Part I and this is the part I want to follow up on, the second part of the paragraph, where it starts:

"In the improbable event that Hydro One is not permitted to use any information and there is no basis to presume that Hydro One would be precluded from doing so, reproduction of all studies and consultation already completed for the LSL project would be required.  The estimated order of magnitude impact on cost and schedule would be approximately $20 million in reproducing EA studies and consultation and at least two additional years added to the schedule, resulting in EA approval in summer 2021 and an in-service date of end of 2023."

Specific to studies and such, and I guess this relates again to part of the cross you've already heard today, my understanding is that with respect to obtaining a declaration order, you are actually relying on a successful NextBridge EA approval; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But for your individual environmental assessment, that's not necessarily so.

MS. CROLL:  That's not necessarily so.  So we could complete our own individual EA process regardless of whether NextBridge's EA is approved.  What we expect in our cost scenario, however, is that there is an approved document which does enable our own individual EA process and make that much easier, because we know if there's an approved document all issues are resolved, there will be nothing that we don't expect, but that doesn't mean we couldn't still complete our own.

To clarify this scenario that is described in the response to Part I is if we were precluded, which is very unlikely, from using any publicly available information.  So again, to take us to sort of a scenario that isn't in our interrogatories where there's no approved NextBridge EA but we have to still finish our own individual EA but be allowed to rely on publicly available information which is still in the public record regardless of approval or not, we could then proceed at, I would expect, a hopefully similar cost to what we have proposed.

This scenario is if we were told we couldn't rely on any of that information and we had to reproduce every one of those studies.  That's that scenario.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the difference -- when we are talking about proceeding with an individual assessment by Hydro One without an approved NextBridge environmental assessment, the difference for you isn't that you -- from your point of view, isn't that you can't use the things, the reports and consultations and what-have-you that you have picked from their application.

MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's just that it hasn't been approved by the Ministry and therefore you may have additional work and so on and so forth to support it.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.  And we wouldn't necessarily fully understand outstanding issues, because there would be no final document which documented perhaps those final comments in the final review stage.  So it would just -- it would -- it would introduce more risk into our process, but it doesn't mean we couldn't complete the process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to follow up on that, because reading this and then looking through the document, so this, for people who aren't familiar with the electronic version of these, this is -- this I-1-14 was provided as part of a single PDF document, and there's a number of attachments to it; right?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And one of the attachments is -- sorry, attachment 2, which is actually a series of -- I believe it's a series of correspondence and information going back and forth between Hydro One and the Ministry.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I went through this because I was curious about this, because I understand how important it is to Hydro One that you can take work that's already been done by NextBridge whether or not it's approved, I think, by the Ministry, ultimate approval of an environmental assessment in terms of fast tracking, if I can put it, your own individual assessment.  And I was looking for any indication from the Ministry have that, yeah, sure you can do that.

And what I came up with -- and perhaps you can help me with this.  The closest I came was -- and I am going to give you a couple of references.  This is in the document, so in the paper document, this would be page 244 of 332 of attachment 2, and in the PDF it's page 256 of 1026.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I can already see that whoever is looking at this has a different PDF than I do.  It's page 244 of 332.

MS. CROLL:  In our evidence?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  So I when I get the information from the Board website  --


MS. CROLL:  Did you say 244?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, sorry, 244. So it's -- that's the quickest way I can try and get it, so I think you have it.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.  It's up here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my understanding, and you can take a second to take a look at it.  This is -- it's my understanding this is the point at which you have put in a draft terms of reference to the Ministry for your individual assessment.  The agency made comments and you can see the original agency comments in the left Column.

Hydro One responded, and it describes what is the response was.  Then there's TOR section revision, the one I am looking at, there is a proposed -- sometimes there is a proposed section revision, and then there is MECP response.  I believe that this is the last time they responded before the terms of reference were put in.

Can you take that subject to check?  It's not important; I just want to illustrate it.

MS. CROLL:  Subject to check, sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I was interested in was MECP number 94, because this talks about the specific issue about you, Hydro One, using NextBridge's information from their environmental assessment as part of your environmental assessment.

So I guess I should read it.
"This section notes that environmental studies have been completed by another proponent.  Hydro One specifies that they intend on using this information and will conduct a GAAP analysis to identify the need of verification and collection of data to complete the description of the environment."

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, can I just stop you?  Are you reading from the left-hand column -- oh, okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, you may have been on the page before.

MS. CROLL:  I was on the other page.  That's okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I finished the first paragraph.
"What are the environmental studies you are referring to, and by which proponent?  Is this a reference to NextBridge and the NextBridge EA?  The Ministry would like to emphasize as outlined in November 14, 2017, letter to Hydro One and reiterated in correspondence from March 16, 2018, and April 10, 2018, Hydro One's proposed Lake Superior Link transmission project is considered a new undertaking for the purpose of the Environmental Assessment Act.  As such, Hydro One is required to complete the requirements of the Environmental Assessment Act, including preparing technical studies for analysis and evaluation and consultation requirements.  This information must be completed and submitted as part of the Lake Superior Link EA.  Revise texts accordingly featuring remove references to other proponent's environmental studies throughout the section.  See comment number 12 and number 60."

Sorry if I read that pretty quickly, but I think it was on the screen for the court reporter to follow along with.

And this says comments 12 and 60.  There are similar comments elsewhere in document, I think you may recall?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's basically, on the one hand, scrubbing the words NextBridge or the idea that NextBridge is involved at all from your assessment, right?  That's one thing they were asking you to do?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, they asked us to reference using a different term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But it's also saying don't talk about relying on somebody else's work.

MS. CROLL:  Right.  But I think if we look at the far right column, which is following our response, the final MECP response, if I could read it:
"Where studies have been conducted on the proposed corridor and they apply to the project, Hydro One will not be duplicating these studies, but use publicly available information to inform assessment efforts."

So we can use publicly available information.  I think what the -- what I understand from the MECP's comment is that they are cautioning us because NextBridge's EA again still has no legal standing.  So they cannot advise us to rely on that as if it is approved and as if it has, for all intents and purposes, worked out all of the problems.

So they are cautioning us to say you can use the publicly available information.  But if you are going to rely on, say, a conclusion that some issue is resolved, don't do that yet because it's not final.  But, again, we can still rely on the studies, and they are cautioning us not the treat the document as final, approved with legal standing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, I think to be -- you will correct me if I am wrong.  But I think more precisely, because this is the terms of reference, they have helped you craft what you are proposing to do.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So they haven't actually said you can do this yet, correct?

MS. CROLL:  I think the intent of the terms of reference is to outline how the EA will be conducted, knowing full well we are already doing studies for the EA.  So I think they are guiding us on, given the unusual nature of the EA we are referencing not having legal standing yet, how we can best -- what language is best to use in the terms of reference for that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So can I ask you this general question?  Is this the strongest or the closest that Hydro One comes to getting some sort of pre-approval from the Ministry about using information from the NextBridge individual assessment?

MS. CROLL:  If I could reference again a document from this morning where I referenced an e-mail from MECP where we requested information that's no longer available online, so information that was completed by NextBridge during their draft work on their individual EA.  And as I mentioned this morning, MECP did agree to provide us access to that information.

So we believe that also sends a message that any publicly available information, or any information which was on the public record associated with this file, is fair for us to use and reference. Again, not duplicating, but properly referencing and coming to our own conclusions based on that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  May I ask you, when you say -- I haven't looked at what's publicly available and I have no idea.  Is it just the results of the study?  Is it the results of the study and the study?  So the results and the study and the working papers underpinning the study?  Like, how far does it go?

MS. CROLL:  I think it depends on the study.  But you're correct.  In some cases, the entire study is not available, the results of the study are available.  And then again as I referenced, some material is no longer readily available online, but was part of the public record which MECP is deeming again to be available to us. So it depends.  And where we need to verify information, we are doing that independently, as I mentioned.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So one last little bit of questioning on this.

In the scenario where -- and I understand you say it's unlikely, but in the scenario where NextBridge does not get leave to construct and withdraws its EA application, and therefore there's no approved EA, and you're, Hydro One, using information in their -- I'll call it a failed EA application to underpin your EA application, it is possible at some point that Hydro One may be asked to defend, I will put it, some aspect of your EA including reports or results that you've relied on that were provided by NextBridge
or -- not provided, but scooped up, I will call it, from NextBridge.

MS. CROLL:  Created by --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Isn't it the case that you may not be in a position to defend that information since you didn't collect it, and you wouldn't have access necessarily to the person who did?

MS. CROLL:  I suppose there could be a scenario like that.  I can't speculate on what actions would be taken if NextBridge refused to finish the individual EA.  I don't know whether they would be required to produce documents that were undertaken for the project.  I can't speculate on that.

I would hope at that point, if the project were to proceed, there would be some sort of reasonable evaluation by government on the proper course of action to move forward in a way that is beneficial to ratepayers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So just to close it off, I say that you may have to test -- because my understanding under the Environmental Assessment Act is that there is a possibility that the minister could refer the application, or parts of the application, for a hearing before a tribunal, and that individuals, any person could refer
it -- ask for a referral to a hearing, and that could bring in this proceeding, where Hydro One is in the position of defending the quality of studies underpinning its assessment that it doesn't have access to the people who did the study.  That could happen?

MS. CROLL:  It's possible, but I think where we are concerned, I guess, about the rationale for conclusions or studies, we are doing that gap analysis, and there are places where we are doing our own work to fill in gaps where we have concerns.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will try and be brief.  I am Mark Garner.  I am with VECC.  Ms. Croll, I will try and keep all my questions to you, but the first one is -- I just may have phased out there for a minute.  Did you say there was an e-mail that you have just recently received that talks about using this publicly available information?

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Is it on the record?

MS. CROLL:  It is not, because it came in since September 15th, which was when reasonably we cut off the date of documents, but it is dated September 27th, and it was with respect to a request we made for information which had been present in a draft document completed by NextBridge which was no longer readily available online.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.

MS. CROLL:  And the response from MECP was:

"We can confirm that a copy of the draft EA for the NextBridge's East-West Tie project is part of the public file for this project.  You can make a request to review the public file."

And then they gave instructions on how to do so.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And just to make it brief, what I was just going to ask is perhaps if you don't object that we put it on the record, Madam Chair?

MS. LONG:  Okay, let's do that.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO FILE THE E-MAIL RE:  THE PUBLICLY AVAILABLE INFORMATION.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

Now, Ms. Croll, I have been getting a little bit confused, and I want to talk just about stations.  That's all I want to talk about right now.  So I want to go through what I think -- and you tell me if I am wrong -- are what I call the, I think there's four of them, components, capital components that are being built by Hydro One, irrespective of who builds the line.  So I am talking about basically the stations.  And I am going to go through them one at a time and just ask you with respect to the EAs.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  So Lakehead TS, as I understand that one, it's all on Hydro One property.  There's no EA and no issues; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct as far as we know, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, Marathon, originally what I found in the evidence was that you were expecting to do a full EA process on Marathon, but then I just heard you say you did a class EA on Marathon; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  So we never expected to do an individual EA on Marathon.  What we normally do as a full EA would be a category B EA, so that would be our typical class process for an EA, and that was what was deemed appropriate for Marathon station.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And your evidence said -- it was in one of your memos from -- e-mails.  It just said a full process, so now you have explained that --


MS. CROLL:  Yeah, what I meant by that was a full class process.  An individual EA is a separate process which is not part of Hydro One's specific class process but a universal individual EA process for the province.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And what I heard earlier was that exercise is completed --


MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  -- and done and with the Ministry right now; correct?

MS. CROLL:  The Ministry has already commented on that on May 15th and said that that work is complete.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay.

MS. CROLL:  With respect to the EA.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

And now Wawa TS.  Now, I heard you say yesterday when you came that you were now expecting to do a class EA at Wawa but weren't before; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's not -- well, if I could explain, I understand that -- if I could explain a bit about the EA process, because I know not everyone is familiar with it and it is a bit confusing.

So in our typical EA process, we don't do individual EAs for typical station projects.  What we do is we look at the undertaking, we decide if it triggers an EA or not, which would be the category B EA, and so the example would be Lakehead, it did not trigger those items by virtue of, you know, as you said, being on our own property -- these are all outlined in our class document.

When it came to Wawa, it triggered the category B EA, but there's another process as part of that called a screen-out, so what that is, is there is a number of questions, 16 screening questions that you review, and you do some studies, you do some research so you can answer those questions.  And if it does not trigger what I would call a full EA, being a full category B EA, it is screened out, and this within in our class document has other requirements and implications.

So Wawa did not warrant a full class EA, category B, based on the work we did.  And that is what we indicated to MECP, and they were satisfied with that, as were other stakeholders.

Following the completion of the screen-out for Wawa, we received a Part 2 order request from an Indigenous community, and there is some discussion with MECP around whether or not a Part 2 order should be entertained on a project which doesn't trigger a class EA that is a screen-out that's currently being discussed, because a Part 2 order would really mean we have to do an individual EA for that project, and keeping in mind from our work it didn't even trigger a class EA.

So we are having a discussion with the regulator about the Part 2 order.  And in parallel we are having discussions with the Indigenous community to understand their concerns and regardless of EA process address those and work through them.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  That's very helpful.

And to go to the likelihood of needing to do an EA for Wawa, as I understand, Marathon's issue is you have to take about five acres of Crown land and build on it, but in Wawa, as I understand it, you have, like, .4 acres on private land, so it's not --


MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  -- Crown land, it's privately owned land --


MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Now, explain to me, if it's privately owned land, how does that impact the need to do a full EA like -- or an EA in the way you are describing that might have to now happen if --


MS. CROLL:  So the trigger to do more work, I mean, you can certainly voluntarily do more work anytime, really it's sometimes triggered by the level of interest from stakeholders, so if we find that there's someone who doesn't believe the work is sufficient or something was missed, they may legitimately request a Part 2 order.  Keeping in mind, also, that anyone can request a Part 2 order, whether legitimate or not.  It's an option open to anyone.

But what we do want to do in that case, or in any case where any interested party has a concern, is address that. So we really don't know what the outcome will be.  Our preferred outcome regardless is to understand what the issue is prompting this request and address it.  So what is the impact that the community feels hasn't been addressed and to address that.

So in that case, if we could do that without a category B Class EA and certainly without an individual EA that would be our preference.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Croll, and I don't -- but my question is rather specific.  What I was trying to understand is how does the issue of having private ownership of that land vis-à-vis Crown ownership of that land generally impact that issue?  So my naive point of view is I own the land, it's my land to use, and other than it has some environmental whatever, I don't need -- once I sell you the land, I can sell you the land, so explain that to me.  Does it have any impact?  That's where I was really trying to understand.

MS. CROLL:  So really it's about the undertaking of Hydro One as the proponent, what impact are we having on the environment.  The private owner can think it's fine, but there are other parties with an interest.

So you may say, hey, I am going to let you cut these trees down, but there could be other stakeholders in the area or Indigenous communities that don't like that.  That is an impact to them in some way, and we need to understand if they have an issue with that.

So I think that's the differentiation.  It's not just the permission of the owner, it's what other interested parties in the EA may have concerns with.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So you are telling me that in two equal cases, one with Crown land, one with private ownership, really there's no difference in approaching that issue with respect to environmental assessment processes, let's call them, on those two things?

MS. CROLL:  In terms of the impacts and --


MR. GARNER:  In terms of the need to do environmental assessment work, that in the case of Crown land versus private land there's no distinction to be made in the length of the process or the difficulty of the process.

MS. CROLL:  It has more to with the size of the expansion of the station, not necessarily the land upon which you are expanding.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, that's fine.

Now, the last component I am not quite sure was on these, because these are three stations, is what's called the Alexander substation to the Marathon TS.  Is -- as I understand it, that piece -- and maybe someone else on the panel -- that piece also is done irrespective of who builds by Hydro One; is that correct?

MR. REINMULLER:  So let me speak about that.  That section is required -- this is the T1M line, this is a 115 underlying line that goes from Marathon the Alexander, that line is not required to be upgraded to the a 100 megawatts flow until the IESO declares that they need a 650 megawatts flow transfer between these three stations you just mentioned.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So we don't have to worry about it for the case in front of us right now; it's a future issue?

MR. REINMULLER:  It is a future issue.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, that helps me. We've gone through the issue a number of times, Ms. Croll, and I am still a little confused about the Marathon EA and what happens.

What I heard you say, and you can tell me if I am wrong, but what I really heard you say it's not that the EAs are coupled together.

MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. GARNER:  It's that there needs to be definitive proof, so to speak, of a line being built.  And that proof can be met, so to speak, by the Board issuing its leave-to-construct decision to one of the two parties.

So once that's done, you have met that condition; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  So that's not my understanding.  I would have to perhaps clarify with MECP, but it's my current understanding that they're actually looking for an approved EA document.  So they are not coupling the leave-to-construct process with their EA process.  They see them as two separate process.

And keep in mind, OEB is a separate body from MECP, MECP has its own minister, and that minister is focussed on the EA process, not the leave-to-construct process.  So that Minister of the Environment, Conservation and Parks' job is to review the EA document before them, and approve it or not.

So it's not my understanding that MECP is linking the two EA approvals.  To your point, they want to be sure there be a line project with an approved EA before they allow the impactful work of the stations to proceed.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, you may have only confused me.

MS. CROLL:  It is a confusing issue.

MR. GARNER:  What I am confused at is either you require an approved EA on the line, on the East-West Tie for Marathon to move forward or you don't.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  So the answer is you do?

MS. CROLL:  We require an --


MR. GARNER:  Whose EA do you require?  It doesn't matter?  Either one is good enough; is that the case?

MS. CROLL:  It's my understanding that it doesn't matter.  The MECP would like the assure itself that there will be a line project and that the station work is necessary.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So to be crystal clear then, if it's the EA, as my friend Mr. Cass was talking about earlier today, if NextBridge is not successful, then that has to wait until your EA is completed?  You just told me you require one of those EAs to be completed.

MS. CROLL:  So if NextBridge is not successful --


MR. GARNER:  That's right and you are.

MS. CROLL:  -- in its EA approval, so it doesn't -- is that what you are asking, if it's not successful?

MR. GARNER:  I am saying NextBridge is not successful and its EA is never completed -- even if it's completed, what I am understanding you're saying is it will only be good for you to use for your EA.  So it's somewhat immaterial to my question.

My question is simply is if NextBridge is not the successful proponent, Hydro One will have to wait until the completion of its environmental assessment, because you told me just earlier you need that in order for Marathon to move forward.

MS. CROLL:  Can I clarify the question?  Do you mean not successful in the leave-to-construct application, or not successful in their EA approval?

MR. GARNER:  Well, they are not successful in their application to the Board.  I am not sure what distinction lies on.

MS. CROLL:  If they are not successful to the application to the Board and they proceed to have their EA approved by the minister, then that would be good enough to proceed with the station work.

MR. GARNER:  I see what you are saying, thank you That's where I was losing you, but I do see what you are saying.  And of course, we can all have debates about whether they will move forward with that.

MS. CROLL:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  But while we are on that issue, because that struck me, did Hydro One in the development cost recovery process for NextBridge make the argument that it should have that EA approved as part of the development costs if it were a successful proponent?  Was that the position put forward by the company?

MS. CROLL:  I am not sure it was the position put forward, but it was an assumption for the cost and schedule of our project.

MR. GARNER:  Right now, I am not looking for the assumption.  What I am looking for is a distinct response from the utility in this way as it's -- and maybe my friend, Mr. Warren, will help out.

But are you seeking in this application also, if successful, an order of the Board that NextBridge complete the EA that it did with its development cost money if the Board should decide to approve that?  Is it seeking to have that EA completed by NextBridge?

MR. SPENCER:  On behalf of the panel, we'd have to defer to our counsel to answer the question specifically.  But it would seem logical, if they were seeking cost recovery on those development costs, that there would be a work product that would be --


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I don't want to belabour this point because it's not really about the EA.  Maybe I will leave my friend, Mr. Warren, to think about that and come back to the Board on that.  Because it does seem to me if it's important to the company, it may be important for the Board to understand.

I want to talk again about these declaration orders,  but I don't want to talk about it with the line; I want to talk about it with the stations.

MS. CROLL:  Okay.

MR. GARNER:  When I went to look at those declaration orders -- again, in my naive way, on the Ministry's website --I was struck, A, by there were none in electricity except two.  But one of them was for a station, and that struck me as interesting.

Tell me, would applying for a declaration order be of any use for Wawa -- and Wawa especially since it's up in the air -- and/or Marathon?  Would there be any benefit to that?

MS. CROLL:  So I would suggest that while there is a part 2 order in play for a station such as Marathon -- sorry, yes -- Wawa, sorry, it would not be prudent to suggest MECP would go around a typical process.  Similarly for Marathon, this would be no merit in a declaration order because the EA is essentially already approved.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Now I have another question for you, Ms. Croll.  Do you know who Bruce Hopper or Hooper is?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, I do.  He is the senior planner on this project.

MR. GARNER:  His name comes up quite a bit with the stations and that is why I was wondering.  One of the things that struck me then when I was wondering about the delay and the timing, did Hydro One, and in your department specifically -- and I don't like this term, but I will use it hopefully it doesn't offend anybody.  But did Hydro One put up any Chinese walls inside the company when it learned that it was going to compete with NextBridge so that the station work, including the EA work, was being dealt with on a separate path with separate people than the people who are going to be dealing with the competitive bid to NextBridge on the line?

MS. CROLL:  I'll let you answer that.  But to clarify, Bruce Hopper is the senior planner on the Lake Superior Link project.  A different planner, Usain Ong (ph) is the senior planner on the stations project.  So until MECP took the position that the stations' EA required completion of the Lake Superior Link EA, they were handled as separate projects by separate staff.

But maybe, Andrew, you can explain any other details of that.

MR. SPENCER:  In answer to your control about the ethical wall, I believe is the term you were looking for.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. SPENCER:  We did in fact send notification to NextBridge and I believe -- the exact date escapes me, but it was mid-March 2017, I believe, when we indicated to them that we would in fact be a competitor on this project.  And certainly since that point in time, we have had separation.  As Ms. Croll alludes to, there were two different planners, although reporting to the same organization, two different planners working on these files and we can assure you that our knowledge of when these station schedule became at risk because of the environmental issue we have been talking around here, after a brief period of assessment, we did notify NextBridge to the same effect.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And finally, Ms. Croll, I think this is my last question.

You probably don't know, but in my client's argument on the development costs of NextBridge, one of the things we were concerned about was that the Board's order not proceed the idea of understanding whether there was intellectual property that should be used, let's say by you as a successful proponent.

I am wondering, is there -- we have talked about completing the EA.  But is there any other intellectual property that was covered or might be covered by the Board's development costs which Hydro One believes should be shared with it if it were the successful proponent?

MS. CROLL:  Was that an interrogatory question?

MR. GARNER:  Maybe.  If it was, we have both forgotten where it is.

MS. CROLL:  I'm wondering if there was other intellectual property.  I don't know if you can answer that right now.

MR. GARNER:  Just for you, Ms. Croll right now, I mean, is there something that you would need in your experience as being in charge of the EA process that you would say, yeah, I would want this and I want that, you know, this would make our job cheaper, easier, and faster?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, so certainly if in the unlikely event a finalized individual EA wasn't delivered, it would certainly make it cheaper and easier if we had access to the information that was collected during the EA process and we wouldn't have to duplicate that.  Especially if there weren't an approved EA in place and we had to essentially finish an EA document ourselves, it would be much cheaper and easier and less risk involved if we had access to that information which was produced as part of this development phase.

I can't think of outside of EA, if there would be anything else, but there may be an interrogatory to that.

MR. GARNER:  No, that's fine, thank you, and thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions, thank you, panel, at least on the EA portion, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

Mr. Murray.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to Board Staff, and I am hoping to go through these questions quite quickly, as my friends have covered a number of these matters already.

If I could ask you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, Attachment 1.  You will have seen this is the document that's been referred to earlier today.  It is what I understand to be Hydro One's sort of basic EA schedule going forward.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I understand that based upon the evidence of NextBridge that the time lines set out here essentially have been shifted back two months.  So, for example, if we look at the Minister's decision line, which is August 15th, 2019, given that the NextBridge EA is now looking at February as opposed to December, that we are now looking at October 15th, 2019 for a Minister's decision; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we would, given the assumptions in the base schedule.

MR. MURRAY:  And similarly the Minister's decision on an individual EA would no longer be October 7th, 2019, it would be more likely December 7th, 2019.

MS. CROLL:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And if I could ask you to turn to the second page of this schedule.  You will see that the PNP approval -- I understand that's the approval by the Parks Canada for going through Pukaskwa National Park; is that correct?

MS. CROLL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And it has the exact same date as the declaration order.  I was wondering if you could speak to the basis for Hydro One's belief that both will be issued on the same day.

MS. CROLL:  So the reason for that is that Parks Canada doesn't have a regulated review time.  It's our understanding they may only need, I can't presuppose how long, but potentially a few weeks, maybe a month to review, but if we have a document finished in January, which we have to submit provincially, we would certainly provide it to Parks Canada as well to give them more time.

The reason it is the same date is because Parks Canada has indicated to us that before they give their final approval they would like to understand that we have a provincial approval in place for the EA.

MR. MURRAY:  And will there be any documents that they want to review in terms of the provincial EA before they grant their approval, or would it be --


MS. CROLL:  No, so they have actually -- in one of my previous responses I mentioned that Parks Canada specifically asked us once the scope of the individual
EA -- once it became clear that there would be much more detail in areas outside the park -- so for example I referred to the alternatives assessment around Dorion and Loon Lake -- Parks Canada really only wants to review their own portion, so they asked us to extract that information and repackage it into a document, just focusing on the park, so not even the approaches to the park, just the area within the park.

So I don't expect that they would want to review any of the other information, they just want to be satisfied that a project is in fact happening.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn back a few pages to the actual answer, and in particular Part I.  And so we have once again seen this document already earlier today, but I just have one follow-up question.

So in this question Hydro One was asked what impacts there would be to both budget and to schedule if you are unable to use any of NextBridge's work.

MS. CROLL:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  And in response, and Mr. Buonaguro has already read it to you, it essentially says that the potential worst-case scenario impact would be two years and $20 million in reproducing EA studies.  And I wanted to talk about the $20 million.  Is that the total impact or is that just the cost of the individual EA studies?

MS. CROLL:  So we haven't really costed out this scenario.  This is more of an order-of-magnitude estimate based on knowing we would have to reproduce all those studies, potentially do additional consultation, additional documentation.  It would include what's spent to date, I would expect, depending on, again, where that date lands, is it now, it is six months from now.  It's a ballpark figure.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess the question I had is, is that just like the extra expenses for the EA studies in that process or will it include escalations and construction costs?

MS. CROLL:  Oh, that's only the EA portion.  So again, we would be in a whole different scenario if the EA -- if we couldn't use the existing work.  We would have to reproduce seasonal studies.  Certainly the two years would add other construction delays.  This is only the EA cost, you're correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Is it possible or does Hydro One have a, just even a ballpark general sense of what the total costs would be to the project if there was required a two-year delay and reproduction of all the EA studies?

MR. SPENCER:  I mean, for discussion purposes one can assume that the actual engineering solution, the materials we would buy, the construction plan we would follow, just say for all intents and purposes they remain unchanged, so that's the bulk of our project costs would remain unchanged.  We would have to look a little more critically at things like interest during construction and how those major milestones would occur, but I would suggest that there would be incremental cost in addition to the 20 million, probably in areas of Indigenous consultation, but that could be wrapped into the area of EA.


But it's not as though the bulk of the work on the EPC contract would be materially changing, subject to, I guess, the outcome of the revised EA, but in this hypothetical scenario NextBridge was not able to get approved, but just to give a sense of scale it's a little more than $20 million, it's not like we are in a totally different quantum here that we would be talking.

MR. MURRAY:  I just want to follow up on that, because the way I was sort of approaching it, if you didn't have a number, if you could get back to me, is I look to Staff IR -- Staff IRR 8, where you indicated that if there was a delay of one year in the EA process it would cost approximately $14 million, and so if you were to double it to two years it would be perhaps $28 million, and then you were to add the studies on top of that it would be another 20.  Is that -- would that be a fair approximation, or do you feel it's high, and if so why?

MR. SPENCER:  Yeah, we can certainly do a rough scenario, as you're suggesting here.  I think it's a little bit of an extrapolation to just double this number and then add other costs.  There's complexities around construction, timing, and carrying costs.  So --


MS. CROLL:  It's also to meet a December 2022 in-service date, so if that in-service date were pushed out, obviously that would affect the cost as well.  This would be an accelerated schedule.

MR. SPENCER:  And even just to give a sense of scale, this cost that's referenced here in the 12 months' delay in the Schedule 7 I believe was being referenced, that is a 2 percent premium above the base case, so just in terms of order of magnitude what we are talking here, we are in that general range.

So if it would be helpful we could look at the scenario that you articulated.

MR. MURRAY:  I am mindful of not having too many undertakings, so I don't know if we need another undertaking, but what I gather from here is we are probably looking somewhere in the 30, 40 range; is that fair?

MR. SPENCER:  No, I don't think it's that high, and it appears to be this could be a critical piece of information to help certainly Staff provide their recommendation.  We would be happy to provide --


MS. LONG:  Well, I am going to suggest that you have some time tomorrow, so perhaps the witnesses could think about it overnight and be able to answer that question tomorrow.

MR. SPENCER:  Good compromise, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Excellent.  And I only have one more question for this.  If it's possible I was hoping to pull up the transcript from yesterday.  Is that possible?  And if you could go to the bottom of page 99.

And so I don't propose to read the whole page, but essentially in this page Mr. Murphy was asking questions about what would happen if Hydro One is ultimately not granted leave or permission to go through Pukaskwa National Park, and at the bottom of the page Mr. Spencer says that Hydro One is confident in its abilities to pursue the park route.  And I don't have any questions about that.  The question I have is on the next page, page 100, if we could scroll down to there.

At the top, starting at line 3, Ms. Croll made the following statement:
"Can I just add one more thing about the park approval?  I would expect that long before the final approval date, we would be aware of any critical concerns that the Parks Canada would have with our application."

I just wanted to follow up on that statement.  Ms. Croll, can you perhaps expand upon the basis for your expectation or understanding that you would hear about this well in advance?

MS. CROLL:  Right.  So we have been meeting with Parks Canada regularly for over a year now.  We have been keeping them well informed of our progress and at different stages, we have asked them for some comfort around whether or not we can proceed.  You will recall the November, I think, 27th, 2017, correspondence that verified that we could -- we didn't contravene the Parks Canada Act with our proposal to upgrade the corridor within the park.

Recently in September, we asked them if there was any issue if we were looking at another option for the foundations.  So we are continually updating them on our progress, and if there were something that they were very concerned about, we expect they would be telling us that.

So keep in mind we are planning to provide a draft document to Parks Canada in January of 2019, potentially now a little bit later, a couple months later because of the change in NextBridge's schedule.  But they have months to look at that.  And if they are going the start looking at the draft and we are going to ask them for preliminary thoughts on it, and if there is something critical that they see as a flaw in the plan or that they have concerns with, we expect they would let us know.

We have a good relationship with them and they have been very forthcoming with comments.

So we wouldn't expect them to wait until August 15th, the final approval date, to bring up some serious concern.  It's not the nature of the relationship.

MR. MURRAY:  And at this point in time, is Hydro One pursuing any studies that would, for lack of a better term, for the around the park route?

MS. CROLL:  So the around the park route, keep in mind, is NextBridge's reference route.  So that has been studied by NextBridge.  So again, we are using those studies as reference, publicly available information, and our current EA process, the individual EA does in fact have that route as an alternate to our route.

So our reference route is through the park, but we are still including studies for that alternate route.  So if, in some very unlikely case, we were not allowed to go through the park, that other route is still included in the individual EA.

MR. MURRAY:  So the EA has both routes included in it.

MS. CROLL:  It does.  The difference being our preferred and reference route is through the park, but we are still including studies for what we call an alternate route, which is around the park.

MR. MURRAY:  And you mentioned earlier for some of these studies that NextBridge has done, you are verifying those studies or doing your own due diligence.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you also doing those for the studies that went around the park, or are or are you focusing more on the ones -- your preferred route at this point?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, we are verifying the ones around the park as well.  And again, on what an alternate route around Dorion is, as I referenced earlier.  Through MNRF comments, they requested that we look at an alternate route which was not our preferred route.  Our preferred route, to be clear, is go around Dorion and Loon Lake.  So we had to do some additional studies there, because we felt NextBridge's review of that alternative route wasn't sufficient.  So we are doing some of our own studies there is.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for that.  And my last question is -- I appreciate that Hydro One is hopeful that if Parks Canada does have a concern, that they would raise it at an early stage.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  But what happens if, say in July 2019, Parks Canada comes to you and says it's just not going to work, you're not going to be able go through the park.

Can you give us a sense, in terms of timelines and in terms of cost, what impact that would have on the Hydro One proposal?

MS. CROLL:  I would have to think about that.  I don't think I could answer that on the spot.

MR. SPENCER:  Perhaps that's something we could discuss tomorrow, along with the other scenario.

MR. MURRAY:  That would be good.  And those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Ms. Ledoux, how long do you think you will be with just questions for Ms. Croll?

MS. LEDOUX:  So for Ms. Croll, I think I would be maybe fifteen minutes maximum, maybe ten.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  And how does the panel feel right now?  Do you feel you need a break?  You've been going for a while.

MR. SPENCER:  Are there other intervening parties that are --


MS. LONG:  What I thought we would do is perhaps, if you need a break, we could give you ten minutes for just a short break.  And then I know, Mr. Stephenson, you have a conflict tomorrow, I understand, such that you would like to go today?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I would greatly appreciate that.

MS. CROLL:  Is this the last of the EA questions?

MS. LONG:  I think that's everybody that had EA questions, if I understand it.  You have 15 minutes and, Mr. Stephenson, I have you down for 30 minutes in total for the Hydro One panel.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My questions are not EA questions, though.

MR. SPAENCER:  Just conferring with my panel members, I think a 10-minute break would be appreciated, a short one.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we do a 10-minute break and then, Ms. Ledoux, you are going to do your 15 minutes of this panel and then, Mr. Stephenson, this is the only time you will have for Hydro One if you are not available tomorrow, so then we'll have you go.

Are people okay to stay a little bit beyond 4:30 in order to get through that?  Okay.  So that's what we will do then.  Okay, 10 minutes, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:55 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:08 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Ms. Ledoux.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Ledoux:

MS. LEDOUX:  So hello, I am Jessica Ledoux for BLP First Nation in replacement for Kate Kampton, and I just want to mention before we start that Chief Collins, president of BLP, is here with us today.

So I just have a quick question about earlier today you updated the EA schedule at Exhibit 1-I, tab 1, schedule 14, Attachment 1, to provide three extra weeks for First Nations to review your terms of reference, and I am wondering which three First Nations were accommodated?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, that was Garden River First Nation.  It was also Fort William First Nation, and also MNO, and that was because they requested the extension.

MS. LEDOUX:  And I'd like now to move to tab 3 of BLP's compendium.  So it's on page 1, and it's the answer to C.  You mentioned that Hydro One will incorporate Indigenous traditional knowledge data if and when any of the Indigenous communities provide it.  I saw from your evidence that archeological work has begun for the LSL project but no traditional knowledge studies; is that right?

MS. CROLL:  So archeological work, as I understand, is commencing in, I think -- oh, sorry, I think in a week within the park, and some has been done elsewhere, sorry, yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  And my question is more about traditional knowledge studies.  Do you know if they have started yet?

MS. GOULAIS:  So we currently don't have any traditional knowledge from any of the communities.  Some of the communities that we have signed capacity funding agreements with have agreed to undertake some of that traditional knowledge, but we currently do not have any traditional knowledge data in hand.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay.  And how long do you expect conducting those studies will reasonably take if done to accepted professional standards?

MS. CROLL:  I couldn't answer that.  I think it depends on the level of engagement each community would like and the extent of what they would like to undertake.  I couldn't comment on a specific time line for a study.

MS. LEDOUX:  And if I suggest to you that a reasonable time amount for such studies would be a year or year and a half, would that seem reasonable?

MS. CROLL:  Again, without knowing the level of engagement, also keeping in mind that a lot of traditional knowledge has been shared on the project already -- now, we can't specifically use those studies, but if a community had already done that work and had it available, we could certainly speak to them about whether they could provide it to us.  Obviously that would be their choice.

MS. GOULAIS:  If I may add, I think it's also difficult to put a time frame around traditional knowledge, because given that we are working with 18 communities plus an additional four, every community is at a different stage in their collection of traditional knowledge, whether it's for this project or other projects or for their own benefit.  So I think putting a time frame around is challenging, given that every community is at a different stage, not only in the traditional knowledge process for this project but for any other use that they would undertake traditional knowledge work for.

MS. LEDOUX:  Specifically for the BLP First Nations, do you think a reasonable amount of time could be a year and a half, and how would this impact your EA, your environmental assessment, especially for the portion of the line that goes through the park?

MS. CROLL:  So again, my answer is the same.  I can't really comment on that without knowing the specifics of what's been discussed with each of the 18 communities and what stage they are at.

MS. LEDOUX:  So I will move to another tab now.  I will move on to tab 7.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, Ms. Ledoux, just before you move on, I would just like to mark your compendium.  I don't think we have done that yet.

MR. MURRAY:  The BLP compendium will be marked as Exhibit K2.3.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  BLP CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR HONI PANEL 1.

MS. LEDOUX:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, so you said tab 7?

MS. LEDOUX:  Exactly.

So my broad question here is, does HONI think that the EA is more important than the duty to consult and accommodate the First Nations?

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, I am having a hard time hearing you.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay.  If I speak louder does it work?

MS. GOULAIS:  Thank you.

MS. LEDOUX:  I feel like I am screaming, but --


MS. GOULAIS:  That's okay.

MS. LEDOUX:  So does HONI think generally that the EA is more important than the duty to consult and accommodate First Nations?

MS. CROLL:  Sorry, and this is in reference to this response?

MS. LEDOUX:  Just in general.  You don't have to look at this right now.

MS. CROLL:  I think Indigenous consultation and the duty to consult is part of the EA process.  It's not a question of which is more important, it's a requirement of the process to meaningfully consult.

MS. LEDOUX:  Um-hmm.  And does HONI think that it's more important to get the Crown's approval than First Nations approval through full accommodation?

MS. GOULAIS:  So I think the consultation and accommodation that flows from that is a very important aspect of this project for Hydro One, and we are currently having those discussions with communities and fully intend to continue having those discussions.  I think in all of the evidence we provided to date, including some of the most recent interrogatories, we specifically reference the need for continued discussions, consultation, which also includes accommodation.

The duty to consult is -- rests with the Crown, and the Crown will make a decision particularly on the environmental assessment, for example, whether or not that is adequate, and there's -- Indigenous consultation is a requirement and part of that EA, which we are undertaking under the EA.

With regards to your specific question whether Hydro One values the duty to consult over the EA, my answer is that we value both.  Consultation is a very important aspect of this project, and there's a very important aspect of consultation as a part of the EA, and we value both.

MS. LEDOUX:  So am I understanding right that the consultation and accommodation duties are incorporated into the EA; right?

MS. CROLL:  Yes, they are.

MS. LEDOUX:  Yes.  So then if we look at tab 7, why is HONI allowing for time delays to satisfy environmental assessment needs and no time delays or even adequate time to satisfy the duty to consult and accommodate?

MS. GOULAIS:  So other than the additional time requests for reviewing the terms of reference that we have -- that Ms. Croll identified, we have -- we are currently undertaking consultation and the EA within the time frames that we have and are working with communities in that manner.

There are some concerns around those time frames that have been identified through the appropriate channels, but those time -- I would not say that we are -- what I would say is that we are trying to work with communities in the time frames that we have, and as we know, Ms. Croll noted this morning, there are some communities that are suggesting additional time, particularly in relationship to the terms of reference, and the governing body is making those decisions around those time lines.

MS. LEDOUX:  So have you -- well, actually, if we agree that it's possible that the time devoted to consultation and accommodation will be more than the 45 days that you qualified as a minimum amount of time, so if this time would be actually reasonable, so let's say between one year and potentially five years -- and I will get back to that tomorrow -- how will those delays effect the LSL schedule?

MS. GOULAIS:  So the 45-day time frame is not related to consultation.  It's related to finalizing the terms and conditions of a commercial partnership following the leave-to-construct approval.  We are not suggesting in any of our evidence or in any of our testimony that a 45-day period is adequate for consultation.

MS. LEDOUX:  So if I may, in Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 15, that's in tab 1 of the document.  I just want to make sure I understand you well about that 45-day timeline at page 3.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes, I'm there.

MS. LEDOUX:  So here you say that this 45-day timeline is a minimum amount of time to negotiate in principle an agreement with First Nations.  Isn't that referring to consultation?

MS. GOULAIS:  Following the leave to construct, yes.

MS. LEDOUX:  So you are referring to consultation here?

MS. GOULAIS:  No, I am referring to the commercial terms of an equity -- of a commercial partnership agreement.

MS. LEDOUX:  So this is accommodation, right?

MS. GOULAIS:  Absolutely.

MS. LEDOUX:  You are referring to the duty to consult and accommodate in this part?

MS. GOULAIS:  This is specifically referring to accommodation, and it's referring to something that would happen post leave-to-construct application, and it's a time frame that we are considering to have an agreement in terms of what those commercial terms would look like.

The discussions, particularly in relationship to this accommodation measure, are currently halted because of agreements that your clients have with NextBridge.  So these discussions which are accommodation, and Ms. Kempton clarified in the hearing in May, the technical hearing, these discussions are not allowed to happen.  So they haven't happened and we are putting a 45-day timeline on them if and when we can undertake that dis -- be able to have that discussion.

MS. CROLL:  Just to clarify, I think normally consultation and accommodation discussions would happen during an EA period.  It's just this agreement that's preventing us from having -- starting those accommodation discussions.

MS. LEDOUX:  And have you planned any -- I am going back to tab 7, but actually I don't think you have to look at the document to answer this.

So have you planned any development cost estimates based on the timeframe that considers longer delays?  Like, I notice that the timeframe you provided here is based on a one-year delay only due to the EA approval.

But what if your consultation duties to impact the First Nations takes longer than expected?  Have you planned estimates based on a reasonable time frame for consultation and accommodation duties?

MS. CROLL:  So I think there's a number of factors that could influence the schedule.  I think what we have done here, because a number of the interrogatories were around EA delays, is try to show the impact of a delay to EA approval.

Obviously, part of the EA is consultation with Indigenous communities.  It's an important part, so certainly delays in that could also impact the EA approval date, and these scenarios would be applicable to any cause for any EA approval date delay.

MS. LEDOUX:  I guess my question refers to what has been discussed earlier about the need for cost estimates for longer delays.  And of course I am like taking parts of my questions only on the EA, and tomorrow I will go on the larger scope about the consultation and accommodation duties and how long they could take.

But here, I feel like we are provided with a very limited and narrow portrait of the potential delays.  And if you are saying, as I understand, that the duty to consult and accommodate is incorporated in your EA approval, then I submit it would be reasonable to expect longer delays.

MS. CROLL:  I think I said normally accommodation and consultation would be in the EA approval.  But as we've pointed out, we can't have those accommodation discussions, it's my understanding, until a leave to construct is established.  And should we be successful, then presumably the agreements preventing us from having those discussions would be dissolved.

MS. LEDOUX:  And you would have 45 days minimum for those accommodations then?

MS. CROLL:  So again, that is only, I believe, around the economic partnership that the 40 days refer to, is that correct?

MS. GOULAIS:  That's right.  It's specific to the commercial -- potential commercial partnership with the BLP communities with regards to equity.

MR. SPENCER:  If I may?  We touched on this a little bit yesterday in the transcript as well, and we suggested a short period of time and felt that, you know, 45 days could be one option.  But really we are in the hands of the Board here around what a period of time would look like to reach those agreements.

From a very pragmatic perspective, the entity which would ultimately own the Lake Superior Link in partnership is not -- the assets would be transferred into that entity upon completion of the construction phase, just technically before energization.  So that is quite some time longer than 45 days.

I think our approach to this has always been that we would like to reach mutually agreeable commercial terms early on in the project.  We certainly don't want to take this on for months and years into the future just on the equity participation conversation.

So we hope, and our intention would be to try to reach mutually agreeable terms in a short period of time following the leave to construct.  The 45 days was a suggestion from Hydro One, certainly open to the Board's discretion around a short period of time so that we could arrive at that economic participation agreement.

MS. LEDOUX:  Okay, thank you. I think that's it for my questions.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  You can pick it up again tomorrow for your other questions.  Mr. Stephenson, we will start with you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much, and thank you to everybody for accommodating me.

I just have a few questions for you, panel, and it's entirely on the issue of the construction schedule.

Just starting here, first off, as I understand it, under Hydro One's proposal, your construction schedule is essentially 26 months in duration, is that right?

MR. SPENCER:  Subject to check, that sounds about right, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, that construction duration has stayed basically the same since the filings in May.  There's been a bump back in all the timing by virtue of some delays, but the actual duration estimate has remained basically constant.

MR. SPENCER:  More or less, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it that you've had the opportunity to -- you're familiar with the materials that NextBridge has filed around its construction and its construction schedule in this proceeding.  Is that fair?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of the scope of the work that is being undertaken by NextBridge under its proposal relative to Hydro One under Hydro One's proposal, they are -- in many respects, they have very, very similar, correct? There's a big overlap in terms of the project?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  There is a big overlap.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And in some respects, Hydro One's project is physically smaller because of the route through the park, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of overall both scope and complexity, is it possible to compare the two projects?  Are they basically comparable?  Is one more or less larger in scope and complexity than the other?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  For approximately 90 percent of the route length, it would be comparable, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  We know your project is, from a dollar value estimate, is smaller than the NextBridge project, correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of engineering or any other sort of technical aspect of the project, is there anything about your project that makes it materially more complex than theirs?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I wouldn't say it makes it more complex.  What's that -- we have a different structure design for our line that has some advantages as far as right-of-way width and so forth is concerned.  But I wouldn't see it as being more challenging or complex for the vast majority of this.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Back in May, as I understand the materials, NextBridge's construction schedule estimate was approximately 24 months in duration.  Do you recall that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I read their current material as filed now, their construction estimate duration is 18 months from the beginning of clearing to the end of construction.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You are familiar with that?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Have you been able to figure out how they have been able to do that, that is go from a 24-month schedule to an 18-month schedule?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  I think they have changed the date for when they are going to be constructing -- commencing construction, I should say, and I think they also spoke about the fact that they would be looking to do some clearing works in the -- I believe it's the summer, versus the fall, you know, so they are basically bringing that aspect and element forward, which obviously poses, you know, some challenges insofar as I think the whole concept of the full construction as far as clearing of right-of-way and so forth is concerned is to get outside of the species at risk season and so forth.  So I think in response to Hydro One Interrogatory No. 12, you know, they mention in particular that should they be successful in awarded a leave to construct in order to meet that revised schedule there be an increase in cost associated with this because of some acceleration fees or adjustment fees in the valid construction contract.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And we haven't seen that yet.

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it when Hydro One was preparing your materials for this case and scoping the project, I mean, it was in your interest to come up with the shortest possible but nevertheless from your perspective reasonable and feasible construction schedule; correct?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  That is correct, and that's why we had always maintained a December 2021 completion date.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it you -- is it fair to characterize that from your perspective as aggressive but reasonable?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So do you have a view about the achievability of NextBridge's schedule in terms of risks and doability and achievability and so forth?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  So from that perspective, we as a construction company would not be comfortable signing up to a schedule of that sort of duration and aggressiveness, absolutely not.  We don't feel that it's adequate time to execute that project with the degree of certainty that is necessary.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And have you been able to identify, there's specific risk factors or elements of it that give you cause for those concern, or is your concern more general?

MR. KARUNAKARAN:  No, I mean, I spoke to one of them being the fact that, you know, you are going to have to start clearing in advance of a standardized clearing zone.  There are mitigation measures and so forth that could be put into place, but some of those mitigation measures are things like spotters and the like when you are going through and doing clearing, but even those mitigation measures don't grant you the ability to continuously operate and work.  Part of those could mean that you end up in a scenario where you get stopped, and in which case you have expended costs associated with putting those measures in place, but you don't necessarily yield the accelerated outcome you are seeking.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, excuse me, I apologize for interrupting.  It's apparent that this cross-examination falls in the category as I would describe as politely as I can as a friendly cross-examination.  I realize that this Board does entertain friendly cross-examination.  I would suggest, though, that the appropriate way for it to have been done would be to proceed, those who actually have an adverse cross-examination or are adverse in interest, that friendly parties would go first.  I am not suggesting at this point that anything need to be done with that.  I do suggest that this should go to the weight attached to any of this evidence at the end of the case.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All I can say about that is I think I am not sure how my friend can judge who in the room is in favour of which application.  I assume there is a diversity of views in the room as to who is in favour of which application.  I would also say if my friend had noted, it wasn't a cross-examination at all.  My questions did not lead the answers to my friends for the witnesses.  In any event, the Board has the evidence and it can make of it what it will.  But in any event --


MS. LONG:  I have heard the concern, but please continue your questions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I actually am now concluded, so --


MS. LONG:  You are done?

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- in any event, thank you very much.  I said I would be ten minutes, and I think I made it.

MS. LONG:  You did, okay, thank you.

So I just want to canvass the room again, so there are no questions for Ms. Croll, who will not be able to join us tomorrow, so I just want to make sure that everyone has asked their questions.

MS. GREER:  My name is Virginia, Virginia Greer, and I am here on behalf of the Long Lake Number 58 First Nation.
MS. LONG:  Okay.  Sorry, I didn't have you listed for any question -- I have you for tomorrow with this panel, but if you have questions on the EA, I would invite you to ask them now.

MS. GREER:  Okay.  I actually only have two really quick questions, and if I could just quickly do them now.

MS. LONG:  Absolutely.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Greer:

MS. GREER:  One is for Ms. Croll.  I haven't submitted a compendium, but this is with respect to yesterday.  You provided us, and I guess today as well, with an update in terms of the Parks Canada work.  And specifically you stated that you have been providing final work plans -- I am at page 36 of the transcript from yesterday.  So final work plans, research collection of permit applications, and that you had begun your environmental studies.

And then I guess to reference the November 27th, 2017 letter, is also mentioned yesterday at page 127 -- you know which one I mean.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. GREER:  In that letter there is a request for a written construction plan.

MS. CROLL:  Yes.

MS. GREER:  And I was just wondering if you could provide some more details about that construction plan.

MS. CROLL:  Okay, sure.  I am just going to look at our schedule.  So that's what we refer to in our schedule, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 14, Attachment 1 as the construction execution plan.  So essentially, that document describes to Parks Canada how we intend to carry out the construction work within the park.  So for example, in this case work is to be completed by helicopter.  There's no widening of the corridor, there's no cutting of trees outside the corridor, so details like that.  So Parks Canada can understand how we intend to carry out the work.  And that helps them with their evaluation of our project.

And it is actually a requirement of the lease agreement that if we have -- sorry, the licence agreement if we have construction activities on the corridor we trigger this need to submit such a plan.

MS. GREER:  Okay.  So that's the construction execution plan, and it was submitted in February of 2018?

MS. CROLL:  It was, yes.

MS. GREER:  It was, okay.

Now, were any consultations required for that construction plan?

MS. CROLL:  No, there were not.  That was the plan that we submitted to outline how we planned to do the work.  I would expect that if there were any changes to that plan based on consultation we would clarify that with Parks Canada.

MS. GREER:  Okay.  And is there, in terms of process, is there an approval of that plan, or...

MS. CROLL:  Umm, I wouldn't say formal approval.  If there were concerns with the plan we asked for comments from Parks Canada, and they were satisfied with the plan.

MS. GREER:  Okay.  My second question, again very short one, is for you, Ms. Goulais.

MS. GOULAIS:  Sorry, can you just speak up?  I am having a hard time hearing you.

MS. LONG:  Maybe if you could just move your mic a little bit closer.  Sometimes that...

MS. GREER:  Is this better?

MS. LONG:  That's great.

MS. GREER:  So my second question is for you, Ms. Goulais.  Yesterday there was a discussion around outstanding land claims.

MS. GOULAIS:  Yes.

MS. GREER:  And you said that you were aware of two First Nations; is that correct, yes?  And what were the two?  Was Pic Mobert and BA?

MS. GOULAIS:  Biigtigong Anishnaabek and Pic Mobert, yeah.

MS. GREER:  And you are not aware at this time of any other land claims?

MS. GOULAIS:  We received a compendium from BZA, Rocky Bay, last -- yesterday, and there's -- in the chief's affidavit refers to an unextinguished land claim.  That was the first time I was made aware of that.  So to answer your question, that is a new -- and to be frank, I am not really clear what "unextinguished land claim" means.  I need to do some research in terms of fully understanding what that means, but that -- as of my testimony yesterday that's the change in understanding land claim matters on this project.

MS. GREER:  Okay.  And I just want to put on the record to both Hydro One and the Panel that the Long Lake Number 58 First Nation also has an outstanding land claim related to this project.

Those are my questions, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Greer, have you filed anything on the record to that effect?

MS. GREER:  The evidence filed refers to it, yes.

MS. LONG:  It does refer to that?

MS. GREER:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And that would be enough specificity for this panel to -- I have read the -- I guess I have read what's been filed, but is there anything in addition to that that helps explain the claim?

MS. GREER:  Not that I am aware of, no.

MS. LONG:  Not that you are aware of, no.  So the totality of what you have filed is what we can rely on to better understand the claim.

MS. GREER:  That's right.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Can you just wait one minute, please?

We are just looking at the six pages that have been filed, and there is nothing beyond that that we should be turning our attention to.

MS. GREER:  No.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Okay, that being said, I think we will end for the day.

I think -- Mr. Murray, was it your plan and Staff's plan to send out a revised schedule tonight for parties where you will deduct the time that was spent today and kind of get us a better estimate as to what we are looking at tomorrow?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, we will endeavour to do that tonight and send it to all parties.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then, Ms. Croll, we thank you for your evidence and you are excused from this panel.  But we will see the rest of this panel here tomorrow morning at 9:30.

MS. CROLL:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:40 p.m.
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